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“Actively, Assertively,
Creating the Future
of HR.

Dear Stockholders,

We succeeded on many levels in fiscal 2005—in the addition
of major clients, in the expansion of our capabilities, and in
reorganizing to make the best use of our capabilities for the
benefit of our clients and our investors. Net revenues for the
2005 fiscal year increased 29%, to $2.84 billion. Excluding
the effects of acquisitions and favorable foreign currency
translations, revenues increased by 5%. But there was a cost
associated with that success—and as a result, our financial
performance in the year fell short of original expectations.

We could have passed on each of the important oppor-
tunities that we saw, and as a result had an easier and more
profitable year, but doing so would have limited our future
potential. Instead, we strengthened our offer and seized a
first-mover position in the human resources business process
outsourcing (HR BPO) market that promises to drive industry
growth for many years and offers longer, stronger client rela-
tionships in larger contracts at attractive, long-term margins.
We now are a more formidable company going forward.

Consistent across all our successes and challenges of this
year was our commitment to heeding the voice of the client.
We keyed our decisions and actions to the needs and expecta-
tions of our clients, and we emerged from a difficult year as
the clear market leader.

Turning Point
We look upon fiscal 2005 as a turning point in our ability to

meet client needs, generate profitable growth, and engage

Dale L. Gifford
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

our associates.

In our strategies, we strengthened our commitment to
providing Total HR Solutions through HR Consulting and
Outsourcing.

In structure, we successfully completed the integration of Exult
and implemented a reorganization that will help us become
more efficient and responsive to the needs of our clients.

In systems, we improved our ability to offer better service, at
the pace, place, and priority desired by our clients.

In staffing, we improved our resource management systems
to enhance our ability to get work done most efficiently,
at the lowest cost, using the best talent pools globally,




including doubling the number of employees we have in
India to approximately 3,000. !

In skills, we added to the flexibility and breadth of our
capabilities.

In scope, we negotiated broader Outsourcing contracts
worth $10 million to $30 million per year, up multiples
from our more traditional Benefits Outsourcing contracts. |

And in scale, we grew from six HR BPO contracts in 2004
to more than 30 in 2005, including those acquired through
the Exult merger.

Lost in the glare of the largest merger in our history and
the multitude of competitive wins in the HR BPO space was
our extensive—and critically important—reorganization.

By taming the complexities of a highly matrixed global -
organization and creating clear accountabilities within our
business lines, we became more client-focused, more agile
in decision-making, more responsive in creating and deliver-
ing Total HR Solutions, and better prepared to reduce costs
and drive profitable growth while nurturing a more satisfying
experience for our associates. !

Opportunity

Our Outsourcing business in fiscal 2005 was a story of less
demand in one channel and more demand in another.
Demand was lower than expected for stand-alone Benefits
Outsourcing services, as clients often bundled benefits
outsourcing into larger multi-process outsourcing deals.
Meanwhile, we established ourselves as the clear market
leader in HR BPO, signing 13 HR BPO contracts in the year,
which was even higher than anticipated at the time of the
Exult merger.

We also began to see signs of stronger client demand in
Consulting in fiscal 2005, after several years of slower growth.
We made improvements that we believe will accelerate in
2006—in North America, in Europe, in Asia-Pacific, and in
Latin America. Our success in HR BPO will continue to driv§
opportunity for bundled and add-on Consulting work, and our
Consulting relationships will continue to serve as a differentia-
tor providing powerful entry points for new HR BPO work.

Management Confidence
There was a time when people asked us, “Is HR BPO areal
opportunity?” The marketplace has answered: “Yes”

And then they asked us,
new growth category?” The marketplace has answered: “Yés."

“Can Hewitt be a player in this

Now they are asking, “Can Hewitt be profitable in this new
business?” This answer will not come from the marketplace,
but from us. And just as we were saying “Yes, absolutely”
to the first two questions before all the votes were in, we are
now saying “Yes, assuredly,” before the proof is available.

We are exercising great diligence in managing the per-
formance fundamentals of the business as a whole and each
individual contract. We are creating scale that will generate
higher margins and addressing overhead to manage our costs.
And I have confidence in our projections based on the trajec-
tories of our oldest HR BPO contracts, our more than 10 years
of experience in Benefits Qutsourcing, and the talent and
commitment of our people.

Creating the Future

Going into fiscal 2005, we were the co-creators, with a hand-
ful of visionary clients, of an embryonic HR BPO practice.
Coming out of 2005, we are the clear leader of a vibrant

HR BPO marketplace that will transform the way corporations
think about human resources in the decades ahead. The
enhancements we've made to our offer and the improvements
to our structure better equip us to serve a changing market-
place in which every deal is different, every relationship is
collaborative, and every good idea begins with a client saying,
“Ifonly...”

Now it’s a matter of execution. Our theme for 2006 is
“executing with excellence.” We will deliver on our client
commitments with the highest quality. We will drive more
rigor, discipline, and efficiency in every business process—
with a concentration on improving results in cost manage-
ment, forecasting, procurement, billings and collections, and
contracting. And we will focus on the development and
engagement of our associates, who carried the day through a
year in which we asked the impossible from them more
often than usual.

Thank You

I want to thank our investors, clients, and associates who
stood by us in this year of mixed results, and who are moving
forward with us into what promises to be a bright future.
And I want to express my great appreciation for the oppor-
tunity to serve an organization in which disappointment

is voiced not because the likelihood of higher profits is in
doubt, but because the speed at which they occur—in any
given year—is less than we all would have preferred.

We are moving confidently ahead, living our mission—to
make the world a better place to work—every day. We're not
just lifting a client burden or relieving a tension, but actively,
assertively, creating the future of HR.

Oettefpr

Dale L. Gifford
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
December 1, 2005



A Story Worth Telling

This is a story that every company dreams of being
able to tell. It’s a story of being a key player in a broad
industry movement that is building momentum at
every turn and redefining an industry as it goes.

There is a clear logic to it.

There is a pervasive marketplace need.

There is an undeniable technology benefit.

There is obvious value creation in the form of
enhanced capabilities plus dramatic cost reductions.

There is a sense of bold partnering between the
industry innovator and its clients to conceive
new industry standards that point the way to rapid
adoption.

A key player in such a story can be both a
catalyst and a beneficiary of this broad, redefining
movement.

And at Hewitt, in fiscal 2005, we were able to
live this story—again—from the center of a human
resources movement that we helped start with our
commitment to helping companies improve their
HR services while reducing their HR costs.

Associates at work from Hewitt’s Marriott team.
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M%eting the needs of a diverse workforce

Majrriott sought a way to increase HR'’s capability to meet the needs of a
woirkforce that is both geographically and demographically diverse. For
thetir business model to thrive, they needed to atiract, cultivate, and retain a

wojrkforce that embodied the Marriott “Spirit to Serve” at every touchpoint.
HeWitt provided the solution—a transformed HR Service Delivery model
that strengthens the front-end of the talent supply chain, enables greater
culﬁvation of talent within the chain, and provides enhanced capability to
track talent. The result went beyond cost savings to an HR function that is
prepared to drive greater business results, continually strengthen the
Marriott brand, and further enable the Marriott “Spirit to Serve” for many
years to come.




The clear logic? You do what you do best and let us
do what we do best.

The pervasive marketplace need? The relentless business
necessity to do more—better, faster, and for less.

The undeniable technology benefit? Innovation, features,
and functionality that reflect all that we've learned
about HR processes over the past 60-plus years.

The obvious value creation? Greater HR capability,
higher predictability, smoother scalability, lower
technology investments, and measurable cost
reductions.

The bold partnering? That would be us and visionary
innovators featured throughout this report.

Together, we are taking HR to places it has always
strived to go—to places where there are clear-cut
distinctions between the strategy of HR and the
administration of HR programs. Once these distinctions
are drawn, we can help our clients with strategy
while taking on the administration.

A Hewitt processing facility.




““~e President, Human Resources, International Paper

administration —more strategic contribution

union contracts. That's where the HR professionals at International Paper
started. They standardized programs. They centralized and improved
processes. They reduced their costs and cleared the way to focus on their

new HR strategy to develop leadership and help meet the strategic goals
of the business, and to improve service delivery. But, they wanted more.
So they outsourced management of workforce administration, payroll,
employee services, vendor administration, learning, the employee assistance
program, relocation services, and drug testing to Hewitt. And that helped
them cut their time spent on administration from 55% to 25%. Less time




Our Consulting expertise in Retirement, Health
Care, and Talent and Organization drives more
effective Outsourcing solutions. And our experience
as one of the world’s leading human resources
outsourcing providers yields extensive data and real-
time feedback that enhances our Consulting value.

Through our HR BPO business, we're taking
all the core processes of HR—benefits, payroll, com-
\ pensation, recruiting, learning and development,

BB performance management, and more—and moving
them into our expert hands.

In fiscal 2004, we were working with six HR BPO
client partners; in fiscal 2005, that number expanded
to more than 30. This is, indeed, the beginning and
validation of a broad industry movement.

At the same time, it is a story that is not new to us
at Hewitt. Because we took a similar path a dozen or
so years ago when we began to work with a handful
of companies to administer their benefit programs.
Benefits outsourcing is now a mainstream outsourcing
solution, and it is largely responsible for the growth
of Hewitt from a $400 million partnership to a
$2.8 billion corporation.
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Bl MacGowar, Seniorvice President of Tluman Resources, Sun Microsy siems
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A commen experience in how employess and Menegers Scoess and use
HR services. For mors then 30,000 employees. (n over 45 countries.
A@é@@]@oaaU@ﬂm@f;
tise. All for & company—Sun Microsysteme—thet was coming fome 7./
customized, high-touch service eppreach, end looking to add cutting-edge
HR technology end & scelelble cost model. Net the first KR BRO desl, or
the biggest, but beyend & deuit the meost euthentically globel, Hewlit was
seleciied in & highly competitive lbeke-off invelving 10 providsrs of HR BRPO
services. Workloree adminisiration, recruiting, adminisire-
fion, periormeance meaneagement. and learming were among he processes
Sun begen lo transition to Hewit In Decsmider 2004. In the years ehead, the
Sun/Hewilt pertnershiip will set the lenchmerk fior HR BRO on & global scale.




For some years, there has been talk of outsourcing
other HR processes in addition to benefits. In such
talk, we could see that there was a new kind of HR
future calling for a new kind of HR solution. There
was an inevitability about this new future. It would
attract powerful new players into our marketplace.
And it would require someone to step up.

We stepped up.

We invested in new capabilities.

We tested new combinations of services.

We reorganized internally to better support our
ability to serve the needs of our clients.

We partnered in new ways with our most
forward-thinking clients. They brought their needs,
their pressures, and their stress points. We brought
a willingness to meet those challenges.

And then, by merging with Exult, we enhanced
our integrated offer with an even greater depth and
range of HR Outsourcing capability and Consulting
expertise and a process and technology platform
worthy of serving as an industry standard.

Associates collaborate on a new project.

|




““Hewitt’s mission to make the
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world a better place to work
aligns closely with Wachovia’s
mission to be the best, most
trusted and admired financial
services compagl

Shannon McFayden, Head of Human Resources and C§ry

Best-in-class HR services—lower HR costs

With over 92,000 employees providing financial services to 13 million
households and business relationships, Wachovia knows that a service
business is a people business, requiring quality HR services to ensure

a community of engaged employees. For many years, Wachovia has part-

nered with Hewitt’s HR Consulting and Qutsourcing professionals to serve

its growing employee population, including outsourcing benefits adminis-
tration to Hewitt. In 2005, Wachovia broadened the partnership to include
an expanded contact center, payroll, workforce analytics, and learning ser-
vices in a new seven-year business process outsourcing agreement with

i he expanded partnership supports two of Wachovia's corporate

] employee engagement
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As a result, we began to notice that it was no
longer just the visionary few who were talking about
HR BPO; suddenly it was on the lips of HR pro-
fessionals everywhere. Once again, we are both a
catalyst for and beneficiary of a major movement
sweeping through HR. We helped make it happen,
and we are reaping the benefits.

Having established the viability of HR BPO and
our leadership in this category, we are now tightly
focused on the excellence of our execution.

As we partner with more clients, and as we push
further into what are typically seven- to ten-year
relationships...

There are technology-driven efficiencies.

There are the growing advantages of global
sourcing.

There are economies of scale.

There are key learnings applied from ongoing
operational experience.

There are capabilities we can offer clients to help
with their talent issues.

And we are driving forward in all of these areas

to increase the value for our clients as we enhance
our own margins.

Sharing ideas within Hewitt’s Sony 'u OIE




Pioneering outsourcing relationship paying off as designed
The year 2000. £d Cotter is looking at all the administration that has crept
into HR, and all the technology that’s changing so fast; and he's thinking:
transformation! The HR experts at Hewitt are thinking likewise. At the same
time, Sony Electronics —where Ed is Senior Vice President, Human
Resources—is on the move to effect a Web-based culture. And suddenly
a plan comes together to create one of the pioneering HR business
process outsourcing agreements. Designed as a modular approach to add
services over time. Benefits. Compensation. Workforce administration.
Recruiting administration, Succession planning. A personalized Web portal
for new hires, employees, managers, and Sony’s HR professionals. An
integrated customer service center. And later, payroll. In 2005, Sony and

Hewitt crossed the three-year mark in their multi-process relationship,

ore time for Sony’s HR team to




Our business is not about being a provider of
stand-alone HR Outsourcing and HR Consulting
services; it's about delivering solutions to help our
clients generate powerful business results while

solving their most complex challenges.

It's our Total HR Solutions approach—integrating
our deep understanding of client needs, 60-plus
years of HR expertise, and knowledge of how HR
works, with the most comprehensive range of
HR services available to deliver results that are

unsurpassed.

The need for Total HR Solutions is real. And we
have the answer, as we saw with benefits and are now
seeing with the rest of HR processes. The value of
our solutions is quantifiable—in terms of capabili-
ties, predictability, scalability, technology exposure,
cost reduction, and positive impact on business results.

And the momentum of Total HR Solutions
will continue, with Hewitt as both a catalyst and a
benehciary.

It's a story we never tire of telling.

Serving Hewitt’s clients around the world.




"We look for partners who
understand the complex1ty
of managing global oW
philosophies.”

Ron Miller, Corporate Vice President of Team Global Awards, Motorola, Inc

Integrated consulting, communication, and delivery—globally
With more than half of its sales outside the United States, Motorola thinks
globally, whether the subject is its vision of Seamiess Mobility or the day-
to-day needs of its 68,000 people in 73 countries around the world. With
Hewitt’s help, Motorola can develop a strategy, design a new program,
devise a communication plan, and deliver the program globally. Organize a

meeting in Asia-Pacific to evaluate benefits and compensation programs.

Manage retirement programs in three regions of the world. Structure a global
reward program for the sales organization. Support the HR component of
merger-and-acquisition activity anywhere in the world. That’s what Motorola
and Hewitt are doing—globaily.
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Financial Highlights

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

Dollars in millions except per share amounts 2005° 2004 2003 2002 2001
Net Revenues $ 2,840 $ 2,205 $1,982 § 1,716 $ 1476
Operating Income $ 234 $ 223 $ 178 $ 240 $ 186
Core Operating Income™ § 252 $ 240 $ 217 $ 186 $ 113
Net Income $ 135 $ 123 $ 94 § 190 -
Core Net Income™ $ 145 $ 133 $ 118 $ 100 -
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 1.19 $ 1.25 $ 0.97 (¢ 0.27) -
Core Diluted Earnings Per Share™ $ 1,28 $ 1.33 $ 1.19 $ 1.20 -
Total Assets $ 2,657 $ 1,808 $ 1,604 $ 1,345 $ 830
Long-Term Portion of Debt and Capital Lease Obligations $ ‘299 $ 201 $ 219 § 236 $ 172
Market Price of Stock:* High Low High Low

First fiscal quarter $32.30 $25.32 §$31.00 $23.50

Second fiscal quarter $31.60 $26.25 $35.80 $29.52

Third fiscal quarter $28.08 $23.94 §$32.85 §27.10

Fourth fiscal quarter $29.21 $26.27 $28.18 $24.40

“The results of Exult, Inc. are included in the Company’s results from the acquisition date of October 1,2004.

**Core operating income, core operating margin, core net income, and core diluted earnings per share are non-GAAP (“GAAP" as defined by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States) financial measures. The Company believes this measure provides a better understanding of its underlying operating performance. Results
on a core basis: 1) include estimated owner compensation expenses in the 2001 and 2002 fiscal periods prior to becoming a corporation (approximately $146 million in
fiscal 2001, and $108 million for the first eight months of fiscal 2002—prior to incorporation); 2) exclude non-recurring expenses related to the Company’s conversion to
a corporate structure ($26 million in fiscal 2002); 3) exclude charges related to the amortization of the one-time, initial public offering-related grant of restricted stock to
employees ($28 million, $39 million, $17 million, and 817 million in fiscal 2002 through 2005, respectively); and 4) exclude operating losses related to Sageo ($73 million
in fiscal 2001). In fiscal 2001, the Company operated as a limited liability company, and as such did not report net income on a basis comparable with future periods. Margin
is expressed as a percentage of net revenues.

*Hewitt Associates, Inc. completed its initial public offering on June 27, 2002. The Company’s Class A common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the
symbol "HEW." As of October 31, 2005, the Company had 868 stockholders of record of its Class A common stock, 32 stockholders of record of its Class B common stock,
and 37 stockholders of record of its Class C common stock. The Company has not paid cash dividends on its common stock. The Company’s Board of Directors reevaluates
this policy periodically. Any determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will be dependent upon the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations, capital requirements, terms of financing arrangements, and such other factors as the Board of Directors deems relevant.

Net Revenues Operating Margin and Net Income and
(dollars in millions) Core Operating Margin** Core Net Income**
(dollars in millions)

W Ousourcing O Consulting @ Operating Margin O Core Operating Margin B Net Income O Core Net Income
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following information should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes, included elsewhere in this Annual
Report. In addition to historical information, this discussion and analysis may
contain forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, which could cause actual results to differ materially from man-
agement’s expectations. Please see additional risks and uncertainties described
below, in “Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” which appears later
in this section and in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended September 30, 20035, in Item 1. under the heading “Risk Factors.”

We use the terms “Hewitt,” “the Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” to refer
to the business of Hewitt Associates, Inc. and its subsidiaries. We use the term
“owner” to refer to the individuals who were members of FORE Holdings LLC
prior to its dissolution, most of whom are our employees. We refer you to Note
13 for additional information on FORE Holdings LLC.

All references to years, unless otherwise noted, refer to our fiscal years,
which end on September 30. For example, a reference to “2005” or “fiscal
2005 means the twelve-month period that ended September 30, 2005. All
references to percentages contained in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” refer to calculations based on
the amounts in our consolidated financial statements, included elsewhere in this
Annual Report. Prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the
current year presentation.

Overview

Our strategic objectives of serving clients exceptionally well, having
engaged and focused employees and creating a strong and growing
business remained central to our focus in fiscal 2005. The following
2005 events illustrate actions taken toward successfully achieving
these goals.

Exult Merger
On October 1, 2004 we completed the merger with Exult, Inc.
(“Exult”), a leading provider of human resources business process
outsourcing, Exult’s results of operations are included in our historical
results from this date. With our integration of Exult this past year,
we have expanded our market leadership in human resources busi-
ness process outsourcing and the scope and flexibility of our Human
Resources Business Process Outsourcing (“HR BPO™) capabilities so
that we now have the flexibility either to take over a company’s
existing human resources operations and technologies or to migrate
a company to our proprietary technologies, depending on which
approach best meets our clients’ needs and business objectives.
Some post-merger financial effects that we expect to see in future
results include changes in business mix relating to the expansion of
the HR BPO business. When we bring on new HR BPO clients, we
typically assume their existing cost structure, including personnel
and third party subcontractors, and work to transform the
processes, systems and service delivery to reduce costs over time. As
the HR BPO business grows within our Outsourcing segment, we
expect near-term negative impacts on our firmwide and Outsourc-
ing segment margins as we make investments in our HR BPO busi-
ness infrastructure and upfront investments to implement new
contracts and transform the underlying client processes. Margins are
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expected to improve as the initial HR BPO contracts mature and the
average age of our HR BPO client contract portfolio increases.

Internal Reorganization

As we head into fiscal 2006, we are completing an internal reorgani-
zation that will improve our ability to deliver integrated total human
resources solutions to clients. First and foremost, our realignment
focuses on integration across operational areas, service areas and
business regions. We expect this reorganization will foster better
client and business connections, and allow us to share knowledge
and leverage resources in the most effective way possible to build
our overall business and deliver exceptional results for our clients.

In our Outsourcing segment, after the Exult merger, we inte-
grated the operations of Benefits Outsourcing and HR BPO. We view
the services delivered by these groups to be largely leveraged by
shared operations and proprietary processes and methodologies. In
the future, we anticipate that we will integrate further as a business
group and focus on three critical client service areas— Core Process
Management, Talent Management and Workforce Management—to
ensure we're maintaining and evolving our depth of knowledge and
delivery expertise across all of these areas. In addition, we believe
this will help reinforce the links that already exist between our Out-
sourcing delivery and Consulting capabilities to create and provide
more holistic client solutions.

In our Consulting segment, we brought together our separate
Consulting lines of business into a single, global Consulting business
group, under common global leadership. We have also combined
our Retirernent and Financial Management and Health Management
service areas into a Benefits Consulting service to create opportuni-
ties for more innovation and change, finding efficiencies, building a
more connected and integrated offer to the marketplace, as well as
expanding career opportunities for our associates.

We have also realigned our client development sales organization.
We have embedded sales and accounts teams into both the Consult-
ing and Outsourcing segments to have sales associates closer to the
business and the services we offer across multiple geographies. The
realignment of the sales group within the segments was completed
by the end of the fiscal year.

Benefits Outsourcing Market Changes

Throughout 2005, we noticed a shift in demand for our Benefits
Outsourcing services. Our new clients are increasingly looking to
bundle these services into broader outsourcing relationships as evi-
denced by the fact that each of the 13 HR BPO contracts signed in
fiscal 2005 included at least one benefits service. We anticipate this
trend will drive further integration of our service offerings to
address our client needs. In addition, the trend provides significant
growth potential for our HR Outsourcing services to extend beyond
our core Benefits Outsourcing expertise. While we expect the Bene-
fits OQutsourcing service to continue to grow, we expect the shift in
demand to broader HR BPO services will decrease the percentage of
the total Outsourcing business that stand-alone Benefits Outsourc-
ing services represents.



Historical Results of Operations

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

The following table sets forth our historical results of operations. Operating results for any period are not necessarily indicative of results for

any future periods.

Year Ended September 30, % Change
In thousands 2005" 2004 2003® 2005 2004
Revenues:
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,840,307 $2,204,682 $1,981,656 28.8% 11.3%
Reimbursements 58,143 57,545 49,637 1.0% 15.9%
Total revenues 2,898,450 2,262,227 2,031,293 28.1% 11.4%
Operating expenses:
Compensation and related expenses, excluding !
initial public offering restricted stock awards 1,628,949 1,412,908 1,266,931 15.3% 11.5%
Inital public offering restricted stock awards 17,355, 16,733 39,010 3.7% (57.1)%
Reimbursable expenses 58,143 57,545 49,637 1.0% 15.9%
Other operating expenses 789,938 431,912 396,009 82.9% 9.1%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 169,790 120,296 101,725 41.1% 18.3%
Total operating expenses 2,664,175 2,039,394 1,853,312 30.6% 10.0%
Operating income 234,275 222,833 177,981 5.1% 25.2%
Other expense, net (13,760) (14,974) (17,340) (8.1)% (13.6)%
Income before income taxes 220,515 207,859 160,641 6.1% 29.4%
Provision for income taxes 85,783 85,015 66,364 0.9% 28.1%
Net income $ 134,732 $ 122,844 $ 94,277 9.7% 30.3%

Segment Results

We provide services through our two business segments—Outsourcing and Consulting. The following table sets forth unaudited historical
segment results for the periods presented. Operating results for any period are not necessarily indicative of results for any future periods.

Year Ended September 30, % Change

In thousands 20050 2004 2003® 2005 2004
Outsourcing ‘
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,022,634 $1,432,091 $1,247,234 41.2% 14.8%
Segment income 253,474 297,911 245,905 (14.9)% 21.1%
Segment income as a percent of segment net revenues 12.5% 20.8% 19.7%
Consulting
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $ 817,673 $ 772,591 $ 734,422 5.8% 5.2%
Segment income 169,806 126,064 136,380 34.7% (7.6)%
Segment income as a percent of segment net revenues 20.8% 16.3% 18.6%
Total Company ;
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,840,307 $2,204,682 $1,981,656 28.8% 11.3%
Reimbursements 58,143 57,545 49,637 1.0%- 15.9%
Total revenues $2,898,450 $2,262,227 $2,031,293 28.1% 11.4%
Segment income $ 423,280 $ 423975 $ 382,285 (0.2)% 10.9%
Charges not recorded at the Segment level— ‘

Initial public offering restricted stock awards 17,355 16,733 39,010 3.7% (57.D)%
Unallocated shared costs 171,650 . 184,409 165,294 (6.9)% 11.6%
Operating income $ 234,275 $ 222,833 $ 177,981 5.1% 25.2%

On October 1, 2004, we completed a merger with Exult and its results are included in our results from that date.

On June 5, 2003, we acquired Cyborg Worldwide, Inc., and on June 15, 2003, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Northern Trust Retirement Consulting LLC.

As such, their resulis are included in our results from the respective acquisition dates.
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Consolidated Resulits

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2005

As a result of the merger with Exult on October 1, 2004, the results
of operations for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 are
not comparable. In order to provide a more meaningful discussion
of our 2006 results, the following table presents the audited histori-
cal results of Hewitt for the year ended September 30, 2005, and the
untaudited pro forma results for the year ended September 30,
2004, as if the merger and consolidation had occurred on October 1,
2003. The unaudited pro forma combined income statement is pre-
sented for comparison purposes only and is not indicative of the

results of operations that might have occurred had the merger actu-
ally taken place as of the dates specified, or that may be expected
to occur in the future. Additionally, the unaudited combined pro
forma income statement does not assume any benefits from cost
savings or synergies and does not reflect any integration costs that
the combined company realized or incurred after the merger. The
discussion that follows is based upon comparing fiscal 2005 results
with pro forma 2004 results. For a more detailed discussion of our
pro forma results of operations, including reclassifications and
adjustments, please refer to the “Pro Forma Results Reconciliation”
later in this section,

Year Ended September 30, % of Net Revenues
In thousands 2005 Pro forma 2004 % Change 2005 2004
Revenues:
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,840,307 $2,662,252 6.7% 100.0% 100.0%
Reimbursements 58,143 57,545 1.0% 2.0% 2.2%
Total revenues 2,898,450 2,719,797 6.6% 102.0% 102.2%
Operating expenses:
Compensation and related expenses, excluding
initial public offering restricted stock awards 1,628,949 1,585,540 2.7% 57.4% 59.6%
Initial public offering restricted stock awards 17,355 16,733 3.7% 0.6% 0.6%
Reimbursable expenses 58,143 57,545 1.0% 2.0% 2.2%
Other operating expenses 789,938 689,314 14.6% 27.8% 25.9%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 169,790 159,298 6.6% 6.0% 6.0%
Total operating expenses 2,664,175 2,508,430 6.2% 93.8% 94.3%
Operating income 134,275 211,367 10.8% 8.2% 7.9%
Other expense, net (13,760) (16,964) (18.9)% (0.5)% (0.6)%
Income before income taxes 220,515 194,403 13.4% 7.7% 7.3%
Provision for income taxes 85,783 79,705 7.6% 3.0% 3.0%
Net income $ 134,732 § 114,698 17.5% 4.7% 4.3%
Overview $111 million) consisted of third party supplier revenues which were

In addition to our merger with Exult in 20085, there are two other
acquisitions that have an effect on comparability between our fiscal
2005 and 2004 results. In May 2004, Exult acquired ReloAction, a
relocation services company and in February 2004, we acquired the
majority interest in our Puerto Rico operations, collectively, the
“prior-year acquisitions.” The results of the 2004 acquisitions are
included in our results from their respective acquisition dates and
as such are reflected in our fiscal 2005 results and a portion of our
2004 results.

As previously reported, two acquired HR BPO contracts were ter-
minated earlier in the year which resulted in impairment charges of
approximately $10 million in the second quarter. One of these con-
tracts accounted for approximately $188 million of revenue in fiscal
year 2005. This contract was substantially completed by the end of
the fiscal year with minimal revenue and related direct expenses
continuing into the first quarter of fiscal year 2006. A significant
portion of the annual revenues on this contract (approximately
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nominally profitable.

Net Revenues

Net revenues increased 6.7%, to $2,840 million for the year ended
September 30, 2005, from $2,662 million in the pro forma prior
year. Adjusting for the net favorable effects of foreign currency
translation of approximately $27 million and the favorable effects
of the prior-year acquisitions of approximately $18 million, net
revenues grew 5.0% over the pro forma prior-year period.

The revenue growth was primarily related to increased services to
new and existing clients in our HR BPC business, an increase of
$48 million in HR BPO related third party supplier revenues, and, to
a lesser extent, increases in revenue from our Benefits Qutsourcing
business as well as growth in our Consulting segment. Retirement
and financial management grew in all regions, particularly in
Europe and North America, and talent and organization consulting
services grew year-over-year, primarily outside of North America.



Compensation and Related Expenses !

Compensation and related expenses (which include personnel,
supplemental staffing and related expenses) increased 2.7%, to
$1,629 million for the year ended September 30, 2005, from
$1,586 million in the pro forma prior year. As a percentage of net
revenues, compensation and related expenses decreased to 57.4%
from 59.6% in the pro forma prior year. The $43 million increase in
compensation and related expenses was due to increases in wages,
primarily Outsourcing personnel to support Outsourcing segmernt
growth, severance-related expenses of $9 million due primarily to
the internal realignment, the effects of foreign currency translation
of $19 million, the Exult retention-related awards of $13 million,
and compensation expenses related to the prior-year acquisitions of
approximately $10 million. This increase was offset in part by
reductions of performance-based compensation of $65 million and
lower discretionary benefit plan expense of $25 million versus the
pro forma prior year. Lower compensation and related expenses
as a percentage of net revenues also reflects a higher proportion of
net revenues managed by Hewitt and provided by third party suppli-
ers, where the costs of third party suppliers are reported in other
operating expenses.

Initial Public Offering Restricted Stock Awards

In connection with our initial public offering on June 27, 2002, we
granted approximately 5.8 million shares of Class A restricted stock
and restricted stock units to our employees. Compensation and
related payroll tax expenses of approximately $101 million were
recorded as initial public offering restricted stock award expense
from June 27, 2002, through September 30, 2005, of which
$17 million was recorded each year for the year ended September
30, 2005 and the comparable prior year. The remaining $11 million
of unearned compensation as of September 30, 2005, will be recog-
nized evenly through June 27, 2006, and adjusted for payroll taxes
and forfeitures as they arise.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses (which include technology, occupancy
and non-compensation related direct client service costs, including
third party supplier costs) increased 14.6%, to $790 million for the
year ended September 30, 2005, from $689 million in the pro
forma prior year. As a percentage of net revenues, other operating
expenses increased to 27.8% from 25.9% in the pro forma prior
year. The §101 million year-over-year increase and increase in other
operating expenses as a percentage of net revenues primarily reflects
a higher mix of HR BPO services provided through contracted third
party vendors and increased client service delivery expenses in HR
BPO and Benefits Qutsourcing.

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses (which
include promotion and marketing costs, corporate professional
services, provisions for doubtful accounts and other general office
expenses) increased 6.6%, to $170 million for the year ended Sep-
tember 30, 2005, from $159 million in the pro forma prior year. As
a percentage of net revenues, SG&A expenses were 6.0% in both
2005 and the pro forma prior year. Included in SG&A in 2005 is a
customer relationship intangible impairment charge of approxi-
mately $10 million recorded in the second quarter relating to two
terminated client contracts. Excluding the impairment charges,
SG&A expenses as a percentage of net revenues declined to 5.6% in
the current year.

Other Expenses, Net

Other expenses, net (which includes interest expense, interest
income, equity earnings on unconsolidated ventures and other
income or expense) decreased 18.9%, to $14 million for the year
ended September 30, 2005, from $17 million in the pro forma prior
year. As a percentage of net revenues, other expenses, net declined to
0.5% in 2005, from 0.6% in the pro forma prior year. Increases in
interest income on short-term investments and other accrued inter-
est income in 20035, was offset in part by an increase in interest
expense due to a higher level of debt primarily in connection with
the Exult merger and a term loan credit facility in the UX. to finance
the build-out of the local office.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes was $86 million for the year ended
September 30, 2005, compared to $80 million in the pro forma
prior year, an increase of 7.6%. The increase in the provision for
income taxes is due to higher income before income taxes in the
current year partially offset by a decrease in the expected effective
tax rate from 41% to 39%. The decrease in the effective tax rate
primarily relates to an increase in reported earnings of our inter-
national subsidiaries and a reduction in the state income tax rate due
to shifts in the locations where we provide services.
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Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2004 and 2003

Year Ended September 30, % of Net Revenues
In thousands 2004 2003 % Change 2004 2003
Revenues:
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,204,682 $1,981,656 11.3% 100.0% 100.0%
Reimbursements 57,545 49,637 15.9% 2.6% 2.5%
Total revenues 2,262,227 2,031,293 11.4% 102.6% 102.5%
Operating expenses:
Compensation and related expenses, excluding
initial public offering restricted stock awards 1,412,908 1,266,931 11.5% 64.1% 63.9%
Initial public offering restricted stock awards 16,733 39,010 (57.1)% 0.8% 2.0%
Reimbursable expenses 57,545 49,637 15.9% 2.6% 2.5%
Other operating expenses 431,912 396,009 9.1% 19.6% 20.0%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 120,296 101,725 18.3% 5.4% 5.1%
Total operating expenses 2,039,394 1,853,312 10.0% 92.5% 93.5%
Operating income 222,833 177,981 25.2% 10.1% 9.0%
Other expense, net (14,974) (17,340) (13.6)% (0.6)% (0.9)%
Income before income taxes 207,859 160,641 29.4% 9.5% 8.1%
Provision for income taxes 85,015 66,364 28.1% 3.9% 3.3%
Net income $ 122,844 $ 54,277 30.3% 5.6% 4.8%
Overview nesses. Excluding compensation expenses related to acquisitions of

The following discussion of results is for periods prior to the Exult
merger and is based on the historical results of operations for those
periods. During 2004 and 2003, we completed a number of acqui-
sitions whose results are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from their respective acquisition dates. Please also see Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements for additional information
on these acquisitions. Where the acquisitions had an effect on com-
parability, we have noted them in the analysis that follows.

Net Revenues

Net revenues increased 11.3%, to $2,205 million for the year ended
September 30, 2004, from $1,982 million in the prior year. Adjust-
ing for the effects of acquisitions of approximately $79 million and
foreign currency translation of approximately $40 million, net rev-
enues grew 5.2% in 2004. Net revenue growth was primarily due to
increases in new core services in Benefits Outsourcing, an increase
in one-time projects in Qutsourcing and the addition of new HR
BPO (formerly, Workforce Management) clients.

Compensation and Related Expenses

Compensation and related expenses increased 11.5%, to $1,413 mil-
lion for the year ended September 30, 2004, from $1,267 million in
the prior year. The $146 million increase in compensation and
related expenses in 2004 was due to increases in employee head-
count from 2004 and 2003 acquisitions, the effects of foreign
currency translation, wage increases, and increases in Outsourcing
personnel to support the growth of benefits administration out-
sourcing and HR BPO (formerly, Workforce Management) busi-
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approximately $54 million and the unfavorable effects of foreign
currency translation of approximately $21 million, compensation
and related expenses grew 5.7% in 2004. As a percentage of net rev-
enues, compensation and related expenses increased slightly in 2004
primarily due to lower than expected revenues relative to com-
pensation increases in our retirement plan consulting business in
Europe, offset by our continued effort to increase productivity and
leverage technology within our benefits administration outsourcing
business, increased productivity in certain of our discretionary con-
sulting services and the leveraging of shared services personnel.

Initial Public Offering Restricted Stock Awards

In connection with our initial public offering on June 27, 2002, we
granted approximately 5.8 million shares of Class A restricted stock
and restricted stock units to our employees. Compensation and
related payroll tax expenses of approximately $83 million were
recorded as initial public offering restricted stock award expense
from June 27, 2002 through September 30, 2004, of which
$17 million was recorded in 2004 and $39 million in 2003. The
decrease in the initial public offering restricied stock award expense
in 2004 is a direct result of the timing of the vesting of the awards.
Stock awards that vested over six months were fully expensed in
early 2003, while the awards vesting over four years continue to be
recognized into expense through June 27, 2006.

Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses increased 9.1%, to $432 million for the
year ended September 30, 2004, from $3948 million in the prior




year. As a percentage of revenue, other operating expenses declined
slightly to 20.0% in 2004 from 20.9% in 2003. The $36 million
increase in 2004 primarily reflects the inclusion of operating costs
from our acquisitions, increased occupancy expenses in connection
with a planned office relocation in the United Kingdom and increases
in computer equipment repairs and maintenance, partially offset by
lower depreciation on computer equipment. Adjusting for the effects
of acquisitions, other operating expenses as a percentage of net rev-
enues were 19.5% and 19.9% in 2004 and 2003, respectively. ;

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses :
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A™) expenses increased
18.3%, to §120 million for the year ended September 30, 2004,
from $102 million in the prior year. The $19 million increase in
SG&A expenses in 2004 resulted from the inclusion of SG&A costs
from our 2004 and 2003 acquisitions, increased insurance costs and
~rravel expenses. As a percentage of net revenues, SG&A expenses
were 5.5% and 5.1% in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Adjusting for
the effects of the acquisitions in 2004 and 2003, SG&A expenses as a
percentage of net revenues were 5.3% and 4.9%, respectively.

Other Expenses, Net

Other expenses, net decreased by 13.6%, to $15 million for the year
ended September 30, 2004, from $17 million in the prior year. As a
percentage of net revenues, other expenses, net was 1% or less in both
years. Interest expense was $19 million in 2004 and $20 million in

l

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

2003. The decrease in the interest expense in 2004 is primarily due
to decreased principal balances on our fixed rate long-term debt.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes was $85 million in 2004 and
$66 million in 2003. The increase in the provision reflects the
increase in pre-tax earnings in 2004. The effective tax rate was 41%
in 2004 and 2003.

Segment Results

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2005

Exult’s operating results are included within the Outsourcing
segment. The pro forma fiscal 2004 results reflect an allocation of
Exult cost center expenses which is consistent with the allocation
methodology applied to our similar shared service costs. The costs
of information services, human resources and the direct client deliv-
ery activities provided by Hewitt’s client development function were
allocated to the Qutsourcing and Consulting segments on a specific
identification basis or based on usage and combined pro forma
headcount. The addition of Exult personnel in Outsourcing resulted
in a shift in allocated costs from the Consulting segment to the Out-
sourcing segment which is consistent with the allocation method-
ologies used by Hewitt for all periods presented. The following table
presents our segment results for the year ended September 30,
2005, compared with our unaudited pro forma segment results for
the year ended September 30, 2004.

Year Ended September 30,
Pro forma

In thousands 2005 2004 % Change
Outsourcing
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) : $2,022,634 $1,889,661 7.0%
Segment income 153,474 304,196 (16.7)%
Segment income as a percentage of segment net revenues 12.5% 16.1%
Consulting
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $ 817,673 $ 772,591 5.8%
Segment income 169,806 128,727 31.9%
Segment income as a percentage of segment net revenues 20.8% 16.7%
Total Company
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) } $2,840,307 $2,662,252 6.7%
Reimbursements ‘ 58,143 57,545 1.0%
Total revenues $2,898,450 $2,719,797 6.6%
Segment income $ 413,280 $ 432,923 (2.2))%
Charges not recorded at the Segment level —

Initial public offering restricted stock awards 17,355 16,733 3.7%
Unallocated shared service costs 171,650 204,823 (16.2)%
Operating income $ 234,275 § 211,367 10.8%
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Outsourcing
Outsourcing net revenues increased by 7.0%, to $2,023 million for
the year ended September 30, 2005, from $1,890 million in the pro
forma prior year. The revenue growth was due, in part, to the addi-
tion of revenues from the 2004 acquisitions as well as the effects of
foreign currency translation. Excluding the favorable effects of the
2004 acquisitions of approximately $16 million and the net favor-
able effects of foreign currency translation of approximately
$12 million, Outsourcing net revenues increased 5.5%. This increase
was primarily due to increased services to new and existing clients
in our HR BPO business, which included an increase in subcon-
tracted third party supplier revenues of $48 million, and, to a lesser
extent, increases in revenue from our stand-alone Benefits Out-
sourcing business. Growth in the stand-alone benefits business pri-
marily related to a change in service mix toward higher revenue
generating administrative services, and was partially offset by the
planned re-pricing of some older contracts to current market prices.
Outsourcing segment income decreased 16.7%, to $253 million
in the year ended September 30, 2005, from $304 million in the
pro forma prior year. OQutsourcing segment income as a percentage
of Outsourcing net revenues decreased to 12.5% in 2005, from
16.1% in the pro forma prior-year period. Included in the current
year results were a $10 million customer relationship intangible
assets impairment charge related to two Outsourcing contracts
which were terminated in the second quarter, Exult retention-
related awards expense of $13 million offset in part by the addition
of the 2004 acquisitions which contributed $3 million of operating
income in 2005. Segment income also benefited from lower
performance-based compensation and discretionary benefit plan
expenses for Outsourcing personnel of $16 million and $12 million,
respectively, than in the pro forma prior-year period. After exclud-
ing the effect of these items, Outsourcing margins decreased due to
higher losses on early stage HR BPO contracts, a higher mix of third-
party supplier revenues, a higher than anticipated level of expense
including the build-out of our global delivery capabilities, and
lower Benefits Outsourcing margins. Benefits margins were down
modestly primarily due to re-pricing of some clder contracts to
market prices and to a lesser extent by higher client service delivery
costs in the year.
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Consulting

Consulting net revenues increased by 5.8%, to $818 million in the
year ended September 30, 2005, from $773 million in the pro
forma prior year. A portion of this growth was due to the net favor-
able effect of foreign currency translation of approximately $15 mil-
lion and the favorable effect of the acquisitions of a majority interest
in our Puerto Rico operations and a pension management business
in the Netherlands of approximately $2 million. Adjusting for the
effects of foreign currency and the 2004 acquisitions, Consulting
net revenues increased by 3.7% in 2005, as compared to the pro
forma prior year. For the year ended September 30, 2005, the
increase was primarily due to growth in retirement and financial
management, primarily in Europe and North America, and talent
and organization consulting services primarily outside North
America.

Consulting segment income increased by 31.9%, to $170 million
in the year ended September 30, 2005, from $129 million in the
pro forma prior year. Consulting segment margin increased to
20.8% from 16.7%. The increase in margins was primarily due to
lower performance-based compensation and lower discretionary
benefit plan expenses for Consulting personnel of $26 million and
$4 million, respectively, than in the pro forma prior-year period.
After excluding the effect of these items, margin increased in 2005
over the pro forma prior year primarily in retirement and financial
management and talent and organization consulting services due
largely to higher revenues in these practices, while leveraging the
cost base.



Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2004 and 2003
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Year Ended September 30,

In thousands 2004 2003 % Change
Outsourcing
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $1,432,091 $1,247,234 14.8%
Segment income 297,911 245,905 21.1%
Segment income as a percentage of segment net revenues 20.8% 19.7%
Consulting
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $ 772,591 § 734,422 52%
Segment income 126,064 136,380 (7.6)%
Segment income as a percentage of segment net revenues 16.3% 18.6%
Total Company"’
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,204,682 $1,981,656 11.3%
Reimbursements 57,545 49,637 15.9%
Total revenues $2,262,227 £2,031,293 11.4%
Segment income $ 423,975 $ 382,285 10.9%
Charges not recorded at the Segment level—

Initial public offering restricted stock awards 16,733 39,010 (57.1)%
Unallocated shared service costs 184,409 165,294 11.6%
Operating income $ 222,833 % 177,981 25.2%

“On June 5, 2003, we acquired Cyborg and on June 15, 2003, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Northern Trust Retirement Consulting LLC. As such, their results are

included in our results from the respective acquisition dates.

The following discussion of results is for periods prior to the Exult
merger and is based on the historical results of operations for those
periods. During 2004 and 2003, we completed a number of acqui-
sitions whose results are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from their respective acquisition dates. Please also see Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements for additional information
on these acquisitions. Where the acquisitions had an effect on com-
parability, we have noted them in the analysis that follows.

Outsourcing

Outsourcing net revenues increased by 14.8%, to $1,432 million for
the year ended September 30, 2004, from $1,247 million in the
prior year. Revenue growth in 2004 was due, in part, to the addition
of 2004 and 2003 acquisitions totaling approximately $72 million,
as well as favorable effects of foreign currency translation of approx-
imately $6 million. Excluding the effects of these acquisitions and
favorable foreign currency translation, Outsourcing net revenues
increased 8.5% in 2004. This Outsourcing net revenue growth was
primarily in the benefits administration business and was due to the
addition of new core benefits services, an increase in one-time proj-
ects and new HR BPO (known then as Workforce Management)
clients comning on line.

Outsourcing segment income increased by 21.1%, to $298 mil-
lion in the year ended September 30, 2004, from $246 million in
the prior year. Outsourcing segment income as a percentage of Out-
sourcing net revenues was 20.8% in 2004 and 19.7% in 2003.
Excluding the effects of the acquisitions of $12 million in 2004 and
$3 million in 2003, segment income as a percentage of Qutsourcing
net revenues was 21.0% in 2004 and 20.5% in 2003. The increase in
margin in 2004 was due to continued efforts to drive efficiencies in
our benefits administration outsourcing business by leveraging
our technology and operating scale, which was partially offset
by increased personnel to support the development and growth
of our first HR BPO service offerings—Workforce Management
and Payroll.

Consulting

Consulting net revenues increased 5.2%, to $773 million for the
year ended September 30, 2004, from $734 million in the prior
year. The majority of this growth was due to the effect of favorable
foreign currency translation of approximately $34 million and the
addition of 2004 and 2003 acquisitions of approximately $7 mil-
lion. Adjusting for the favorable effects of foreign currency and the
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acquisitions, Consulting net revenues decreased 0.4% in 2004.
Declines in demand for certain of our discretionary consulting serv-
ices were mostly offset by growth in health benefit management
consulting while retirement and financial management was gener-
ally flat year over year.

Consulting segment income decreased by 7.6%, to $126 million
in the year ended September 30, 2004, from $136 million in the
prior year. Consulting segment income as a percentage of Consult-
ing net revenues was 16.3% in 2004 and 18.6% in 2003. Adjusting
for the effects of acquisitions in 2004 and 2003, segment income as
a percentage of Consulting net revenues was 15.8% in 2004 and
18.8% in 2003. The decrease in margins in 2004 was primarily the
result of declines in our European region, driven by a combination
of higher costs due to a previously planned office relocation as well
as compensation costs on lower than planned revenue due in part to
a delay in the timing of anticipated work related to benefit-related
legislative changes in Eurcpe, as well as a decline in revenue for
certain discretionary communications and other consulting assign-
ments in North America.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Conforming with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires us to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the consol-
idated financial statements and this Annual Report. The process of
determining significant estimates is fact specific and takes into
account factors such as historical experience, known facts, current
and expected economic conditions and, in some cases, actuarial
techniques. We periodically reevaluate these significant factors and
make adjustments when facts and circumstances change; however,
actual results may differ from estimates. Certain of our accounting
policies require higher degrees of judgment than others in their
application. These include certain aspects of accounting for revenue
recognition and client contract loss reserves, deferred contract costs
and revenues, performance-based compensation, accounts receiv-
able and unbilled work in process, goodwill and other intangible
assets, retirement plans and income taxes.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues include fees generated from Outsourcing contracts
and from Consulting services provided to our clients. Outsourcing
contract terms typically range from three-to-five years for benefits
contracts and seven-to-ten years for HR BPO contracts, while
Consulting arrangements are generally of a short-term nature.
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In connection with the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue
No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, we have con-
tracts with multiple elements primarily in our Outsourcing seg-
ment. Multiple-element arrangements are assessed to determine
whether they can be separated into more than one unit of account-
ing. EITF Issue 00-21 establishes the following criteria, all of which
must be met, in order for a deliverable to qualify, as a separate unit
of accounting:

* The delivered items have value to the client on a stand-alone basis
* There is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the
undelivered items
* If the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the
delivered itemns, delivery or performance of the undelivered items is
considered probable and substantially in the control of the Company.
If these criteria are not met, deliverables included in an arrangement
are accounted for as a single unit of accounting and revenue is
deferred until the period in which the final deliverable is provided
or a predominant service level has been attained. If there is objective
and reliable evidence of fair value for all units of accounting in an
arrangement, the arrangement consideration is allocated to the sepa-
rate units of accounting based on each unit’s relative fair value. Rev-
enue is then recognized using a proportional performance method
such as recognizing revenue based on transactional services deliv-
ered or on a straight-line basis (as adjusted primarily for volume
changes), as appropriate.

Our clients typically pay for Consulting services either on a time-
and-material or on a fixed-fee basis. On fixed-fee engagements,
revenues are recognized either as services are provided using a pro-
portional performance method, which utilizes estimates of overall
profitability and stages of project completion, or at the completion
of the project, based on the facts and circumstances of the client
arrangement.

Losses on Outsourcing or Consulting arrangements are recognized
during the period in which a loss becomes probable and the amount
of the loss is reasonably estimable. Contract or project losses are
determined to be the amount by which the estimated direct and a
portion of indirect costs exceed the estimated total revenues that
will be generated by the arrangement. Estimates are monitored dur-
ing the term of the arrangement and any changes to estimates are
recorded in the current period and can result in either increases or
decreases to income.



Deferred Contract Costs and Deferred Contract Revenues

For long-term Outsourcing service agreements, implementation
efforts are often necessary to set up clients and their human resource
or benefit programs on the Company's systems and operating
processes. For Outsourcing services sold separately or accounted for
as a separate unit of accounting; specific, incremental and direct
costs of implementation incurred prior to the services going live are
deferred and amortized over the period the related ongoing services
revenue is recognized. Such costs may include internal and external
costs for coding or creating customizations of systems, costs for
conversion of client data and costs to negotiate contract terms. For
Outsourcing services that are accounted for as a combined unit of
accounting; specific, incremental and direct costs of implementa-
tion, as well as ongoing service delivery costs incurred prior to rev-
enue recognition commencing are deferred and amortized over the
remaining contract services period. Implementation fees are also
generally received from our clients either up front or over the ongo-
ing services period in the fee per participant. Lump sum implemén-
tation fees received from a client are initially deferred and then
recognized as revenue evenly over the contract ongoing services
period. If a client terminates an Outsourcing services arrangement
prior to the end of the contract, a loss on the contract may be
recorded if necessary and any remaining deferred implementation
revenues and costs would then be recognized into earnings through
the termination date.

Performance-Based Compensation

Our compensation program includes a performance-based compo-
nent that is determined by management and the Compensation and
Leadership Committee of our Board of Directors. Performance-
based compensation is discretionary and is based on individual,
tearn, and total Company performance. The amount of expense for
performance-based compensation recognized at interim and annual
reporting dates involves judgment, is based on our quarterly and
annual results as compared to our internal targets, and takes into
account other factors, including industry trends and the general
economic environment. Annual performance-based compensation
levels may vary from current expectations as a result of changes in
the actual performance of the Company, team or individual. As
such, accrued amounts are subject to change in future periods if
actual future performance varies from performance levels antici-
pated in prior interim periods.
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Client Receivables and Unbilled Work In Process

We periodically evaluate the collectibility of our client receivables
and unbilled work in process based on a combination of factors. In
circumstances where we become aware of a specific client’s diffi-
culty in meeting its financial obligations to us (e.g., bankruptcy, fail-
ure to pay amounts due to us or to others), we record an allowance
for doubtful accounts to reduce the client receivable to what we rea-
sonably believe will be collected. For all other clients, we recognize
an allowance for doubtful accounts based on past write-off history
and the length of time the receivables are past due. Facts and cir-
cumstances may change, which would require us to alter our esti-
mates of the collectibility of client receivables and unbilled work in
process. A key factor mitigating this risk is our diverse client base.
For the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, no single
client accounted for more than 10% of our total revenues.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In applying the purchase method of accounting for business com-
binations, amounts assigned to identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired have been based on estimated fair values as of the date of
the acquisitions, with the remainder recorded as goodwill. Esti-
mates of fair value have been based primarily upon future cash flow
projections for the acquired businesses and net assets, discounted to
present value using a risk adjusted discount rate. We evaluate our
goodwill for impairment annually and whenever indicators of
impairment exist. The evaluation is based upon a comparison of the
estimated fair value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill has
been assigned to the sum of the carrying value of the assets and lia-
bilities for that reporting unit. The fair values used in this evaluation
are estimated based upon discounted future cash flow projections
for the reporting unit. Our estimate of future cash flows is based on
our experience, knowledge and typically third-party advice or mar-
ket data. However, these estimates can be affected by other factors
and economic conditions that can be difficult to predict. Intangible
assets are initially valued at fair market value using generally
accepted valuation methods appropriate for the type of intangible
asset. Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over their
estimated useful lives and are reviewed for impairment if indicators
of impairment arise. The evaluation of impairment is based upon a
comparison of the carrying amount of the intangible asset to the
estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be gener-
ated by the asset. If estimated future undiscounted net cash flows are
less than the carrying amount of the asset, the asset is considered
impaired. The impairment expense is determined by comparing the
estimated fair value of the intangible asset to its carrying value, with
any shortfall from fair value recognized as an expense in the current
period.
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Retirement Plans

We provide pension benefits to certain of our employees outside of
North America and other postretirement benefits to certain of our
employees in North America. The valuation of the funded status and
net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit costs are cal-
culated using actuarial assumptions, which are reviewed annually.
The assumptions include rates of increases in employee compensa-
tion, interest rates used to discount liabilities, the long-term rate of
return on plan assets, anticipated future health-care costs, and other
assumptions involving demographic factors such as retirement,
mortality and turnover. The selection of assumptions is based on
both short-term and long-term historical trends and known eco-
nomic and market conditions at the time of the valuation. The use of
different assumptions would have resulted in different measures of
the funded status and net periodic pension and other postretirement
benefit expenses. Actual results in the future could differ from
expected results. We are not able to estimate the probability of actual
results differing from expected results, but believe our assumptions
are appropriate. Our assumptions are listed in Note 15. The most
critical assumptions pertain to the plans covering employees outside
North America, as these plans are the most significant to our consol-
idated financial statements.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in both the U.S. and numerous for-
eign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining
the worldwide income tax provision. In the ordinary course of
global business, there are many transactions and calculations where
the ultimate tax outcome is uncertain. Some of these uncertainties
arise as a consequence of revenue sharing and cost reimbursement
arrangements among related entities, the process of identifying
items of revenue and expense that qualify for preferential tax treat-
ment, and segregation of foreign and domestic income and expense
to avoid double taxation. To the extent that the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initally
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax provision in
the period in which such determination is made. We record a valua-
tion allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount of
future tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized. While
we have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and
feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for the valua-
tion allowance, there is no assurance that the valuation allowance
will not need to be increased to cover additional deferred tax assets
that may not be realizable. Any increase in the valuation allowance
could have a material adverse impact on our income tax provisions
and net income in the period in which such determination is made.
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Pro Forma Results Reconciliation
The following unaudited pro forma combined income statement
with explanatory notes presents combined unaudited statements of
operations of Hewitt and Exult for the year ended September 30,
2004, giving effect to the merger as if it had been completed on
October 1, 2003, the beginning of Hewitt’s 2004 fiscal year. The
unaudited pro forma combined income statement has been derived
from and should be read in conjunction with the historical consoli-
dated financial staternents and the related notes of both Hewitt and
Exult. The unaudited pro forma combined financial information
shows the impact of the merger with Exult on Hewitt’s historical
results of operations applying the purchase method of accounting.
Under this method of accounting, the results of operations of
Hewitt and Exult were combined from the merger date forward.
The unaudited pro forma combined income statement is pre-
sented for illustrative purposes only and is not indicative of the
results of operations that might have occurred had the merger actu-
ally taken place as of the date specified, or that may be expected to
occur in the future. It does not assume any benefits from cost sav-
ings or synergies and it does not reflect any integration costs that the
combined company realized or incurred after the merger. The unau-
dited pro forma combined income statement reflects the estimated
effect of Exult’s adoption of Hewitt’s accounting policy of recogniz-
ing revenue described in “Critical Accounting Policies and Esti-
mates” above. Exult’s policy was to recognize revenue for long-term,
multi-deliverable process management contracts based on the pro-
portion of contract costs incurred to date to the then-current esti-
mates of total contract costs. The effect of changes to total estimated
contract revenues or costs was recognized in the period in which the
determination was made that facts and circumstances dictated a
change of estimate. For a more detailed description of Hewitt’s and
Exult’s revenue recognition policies, please refer to the historical
consolidated financial statements and the related notes of Hewitt

and Exult. Amounts are in thousands, unless otherwise noted.




Pro Forma Combined Income Statement {unaudited)

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Year Ended September 30, 2004

Hewitt/Exult
! Exult Pro Forma Pro Forma
Dollars in thousands except share and per share amounts Hewitt Exult Reclassifications Adjustments Combined
Revenues: ‘
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,204,682 $465,759 $ (42) $ (7,223)®  $2,662,252
(14,796)®
! 13,8729
Reimbursements 57,545 — — — 57,545
Total revenues 2,262,227 465,759 (42) (8,147) 2,719,797
Operating Expenses:
Cost of revenues — 450,266 (450,266) — —
Compensation and related expenses, excluding
initial public offering restricted stock awards 1,412,908 — 178,520 (5,300)® 1,585,540
‘ (1,394)®
‘ 806®
Initial public offering restricted stock awards 16,733 — — — 16,733
Reimbursable expenses 57,545 — — — 57,545
Other operating expenses 431,912, — 285,431 (14,796)® 689,314
‘ (15,652)©@
8,560¢
(12,724)®
6,583®
Selling, general and administrative expenses 120,296, 48,254 (13,311) (278)©@ 159,298
: 11,3680
(7,031)®
Total operating expenses 2,039,394 498,520 374 (29,858) 2,508,430
Operating income (loss) 222,833 (32,761) (416) 21,711 211,367
Other expense, net (14,974) (1,363) 416 (444)©@ (16,964)
3,336
(3,935)®
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes ‘ (34,124)
Income before income taxes 207,859 — — 20,668 194,403
Provision for income taxes 85,015 411 — (5,721)9 79,705
Loss from continuing operations $ (34,535)
Net income $ 122,844 3 — $ 26,389 $ 114,698
Earnings per share: ‘
Basic $ 1.28: $ 0.97
Diluted $ 1.25¢ $ 0.95
Weighted average shares: ‘
Basic 96,031,389 22,092,8269 118,124,215
Diluted 97,950,088 22,283,7619 120,233,849

Certain amounts in the historical consolidated income statements of
Exult have been reclassified to conform to Hewitt's current presen-
tation. These are labeled as Exult Reclassifications in the unaudited
pro forma combined income statement. Discontinued operations
reported in Exult’s historical consolidated statement of income have
been excluded.

The unaudited pro forma combined income statement presented
does notindicate the combined results of operations that might have
occurred had the pro forma adjustments actually taken place as of
the date specified, nor is it indicative of the results of operations in
future periods of the combined company.
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Pro Forma Adjustments
The pro forma adjustments reflected in the unaudited pro forma
combined income statement are as follows:

A

(3

©

)

(®)
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This adjustment reflects the estimated effect of Exult’s adoption
of Hewitt’s accounting policy of recognizing revenue as
described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
contained elsewhere in this Annual Report. Exult’s policy was
to recognize revenue for long-term multi-deliverable process
management contracts for each reporting period based on the
proportion of costs incurred to date to the then-current esti-
mates of total contract costs. The effect of changes to total esti-
mated contract revenues or costs was recognized in the period
in which the determination was made that facts and circum-
stances dictated a change of estimate. The effect of this adjust-
ment is to decrease net revenues by $7,223 for the year ended
September 30, 2004. (For the year ended September 30, 2004,
this entry also includes the effect of removing the $23.9 mil-
lion Bank of America termination adjustment that Exult
recorded in their quarter ended March 31, 2004.)

These adjustments reflect the elimination of Hewitt services
sold to Exult. All significant intercompany balances and trans-
actions have been eliminated from the unaudited pro forma
combined income statement.

These adjustments reflect the reversal of Exult’s historical amor-
tization of intangible assets and record the amortization of
intangible assets (other than goodwill) resulting from the
merger. The impact of these adjustments is to decrease amorti-
zation expense as follows:

Year Ended

September 30, 2004

Historical amortization expense $ 29,802
Pro forma amortization expense (19,928)
Decrease in amortization expense $ 9,874

The reversal of amortization of certain intangible assets which
were recorded by Exult as a reduction of revenue over the appli-
cable contract term resulted in a net increase to net revenues of
$13,872 for the year ended September 30, 2004.

These adjustments reflect the elimination of the expense
incurred for the incentive bonuses of $6,000 for the portion of
the 2004 bonus period ending September 30, 2004 and the
elimination of professional fees incurred by Exult related to
the merger.

This adjustment eliminates the amortization of unearned com-
pensation on Exult’s heritage restricted stock awards. In connec-
tion with the merger, the majority of Exult’s heritage restricted
stock was converted into Hewitt Class A common stock, keep-
ing the original restrictions and vesting periods. As a result, the
adjustment also records the amortization of the unearned com-
pensation of the converted restricted stock.

(®)

©)

These adjustments reflect the write off of Exult’s historical
depreciation of property and equipment and record the depreci-
ation of property and equipment acquired in the merger based
on their estimated fair values and useful lives. The impact of
these adjustments is to decrease depreciation expense as follows:

Year Ended

September 30, 2004

Historical depreciation expense $12,724
Pro forma depreciation expense (6,583)

Decrease in depreciation expense $ 6,141

This adjustment reduces interest income as a result of the cash
payments of $29,545 pertaining to the settlement of Exult’s
employee stock options for $23,545 and incentive bonuses
of $6,000 for the portion of the 2004 bonus period ending
September 30, 2004. Had the cash payment occurred as of
October 1, 2003 for the unaudited pro forma income state-
ment, interest income on cash and cash equivalents would have
been lower by $444 for the year ended September 30, 2004.

{H) These adjustments record the interest expense on long-term

U

o))

debt instruments and capital lease obligations based upon the
fair value of those instruments and obligations at the date of
merger. The impact of the adjustments was to increase interest
expense by $599 for the year ended September 30, 2004,

This adjustment reflects the anticipated income tax expense,
which was redetermined based on the combined income of
Exult and Hewitt. The adjusted effective tax rate is 41% for the
pro forma year ended September 30, 2004. Actual effective
tax rates may differ from the pro forma rates reflected in this
unaudited pro forma combined income statement and will
ultimately depend on several variables, including the mix
of earnings between domestic and international operations
(including the amount of any foreign losses for which a valua-
tion allowance is recorded), and the overall level of earnings.
For the year ended September 30, 2004, the weighted average
shares were calculated using the historical weighted average
shares outstanding of Hewitt and the actual number of Hewitt
shares issued for the merger at October 1, 2004. Earnings per
share data have been computed based on the combined histori-
cal net income of Hewitt, loss from continuing operations for
Exult and the impact of pro forma adjustments.




Quarterly Results ‘

The following tables set forth the historical unaudited quarterly
financial data for the periods indicated. The information for each of
these periods has been prepared on the same basis as the audited
consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, reflects all

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

adjustments consisting only of normal recurring adjustments neces-
sary to present fairly our financial results. Operating results for previ-
ous periods do not necessarily indicate results that may be achieved
in any future period. Amounts are in millions, except earnings per
share information.

\ Fiscal 2005® Fiscal 2004
Ist Qur ! 2nd Qtr 3rd Qur 4th Qur Ist Qur 2nd Qtr 3rd Qur 4th Qu
Revenues:
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenue) $710 $697 $712 $721 $532 $ 546 $552 $575
Reimbursements 15 15 13 15 19 13 12 14
Total revenues 725 712 725 736 551 559 564 589
Operating expenses:
Compensation and related expenses, excluding
initial public offering restricted stock awards 420 406 411 392 340 347 359 367
Initial public offering restricted stock awards 4 4 4 5 4 5 4 4
Reimbursable expenses 15 15 13 15 19 13 12 14
Other operating expenses 186 193 196 215 105 111 103 113
Selling, general and administrative expenses 38 45 45 42 27 28 32 33
Total operating expenses ' 663 663 669 669 495 504 510 531
Operating income 62 49 56 67 56 55 54 58
Other expenses, net 4): 3) 3) 3) (6) (4) (4) (1)
Income before income taxes 58 46 53 64 50 51 50 57
Provision for income taxes 24 19 20 23 21 21 20 23
Net income $ 34 3% 27 $ 33 $ 41 $ 29 $ 30 § 30 $ 34
Earnings per share—Basic $0.29 $0.24 $0.31 $0.38 $0.31 $0.32 $0.31 $0.34
— Diluted $0.28 $0.23 $0.31 $0.37 $0.30 $0.31 $0.30 §0.34

®0On October 1, 2004, we completed a merger with Exult, Inc. and its results are included in our results from that date.
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Seasonality and Inflation

Revenues and income vary over the fiscal year. Within our Out-
sourcing segment, we generally experience a seasonal increase in
our fiscal fourth and first quarter revenues because our clients’ bene-
fit enrollment processes typically occur during the fall. Within our
Consulting segment, we typically experience a seasonal peak in the
fiscal third and fourth quarters which reflects our clients’ business
needs for these services. We believe inflation has had little effect on
our results of operations during the past three years.

Summary of Cash Flows

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically funded our growth and working capital
requirements with internally generated funds, credit facilities and
term notes. Our change to a corporate structure in May 2002 and
our initial public offering in June 2002 enhanced our ability to
access public market financing to fund new investments and acquisi-
tions, as well as to meet ongoing and future capital resource needs.

Year Ended September 30,

In thousands 2005 2004 2003
Cash provided by operating activities $ 346,077 $ 241,089 $ 278,554
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities 47,578 {135,787) (240,098)
Cash used in financing activities (358,520) (44,619) (51,641)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (688) 1,013 2,210
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 34,447 61,696 (10,975)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 129,481 67,785 78,760
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 163,928 $ 129,481 $ 67,785

Working capital, defined as current assets less current liabilities, was
$321 million, §425 million and $284 million at September 30,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The decrease in working capital
in 2005 was primarily related to the funding of the Company’s ten-
der offer in the second quarter of 2005, in which the Company
repurchased $300 million of the Company’s Class A common stock
from shareholders. This repurchase was funded through the sale of
investments, cash on hand and short-term borrowings (See Note 3
to the consolidated financial statements—"“Tender Offer” for addi-
tional information).

For the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, cash
provided by operating activities was $346 million, $241 million and
$279 million, respectively. The increase in cash provided by operat-
ing activities in 2005 was primarily due to increased cash collec-
tions of receivables and advance billings, higher income from
operations before non-cash items in the current year, higher upfront
implementation fees, a non-recurring $11 million refund of prepaid
rent stemming from a client termination in the second quarter of
fiscal 2005 and a $3 million fee for renegotiating certain of our real
estate terms. These increases were partially offset by higher annual
performance-based compensation paid out in early 2005 for the
2004 fiscal year than was paid out in 2004 for the 2003 fiscal year,
an increase in expenditures related to deferred contract costs on new
client contracts and the payment of higher income taxes for the
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combined Company in 2005. The decrease in cash provided by
operating activities in 2004 was primarily related to a significant
increase in advanced billing arrangements in 2003 while the 2004
levels remained flat. Additionally, the decrease was due in part to the
timing of cash collections of receivables and limited deferred billing
arrangements, partially offset by increases in accounts payable and
deferred compensation.

We incur significant cash outflows in connection with new Out-
sourcing contracts. During fiscal year 2005, we capitalized, net of
amortization, an additional $91 million of implementation and
ongoing service costs; the great majority of these costs in connec-
tion with our HR BPO services. Fees for implementations received
ahead of delivering our ongoing services are also recorded as
deferred contract revenues and amortized over the contract services
period. Historically, we received a greater amount of implementa-
tion fees at the beginning of our arrangements. In recent years, and
primarily in connection with our HR BPO contracts, more of the
client investments are being recovered from fees received over the
ongoing services period. We generally have early termination provi-
sions and other protections to recover these investments and fees for
services provided to date. The fact that we may spend more and
recover less for our client service investments in earlier periods of a
new contract will reduce our operating cash flows in those periods
when we enter into the new Outsourcing contracts.




For the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 cash
provided by investing activities was $48 million and cash used in
investing activities was 8136 million and $240 million, respective)y
The increase in cash provided by investing activities in 2005 prima-
rily reflects a lower level of short-term investment purchases than in
the prior year. This was partially offset by higher expenditures for
new computers, equipment including mainframe computer and
disk storage upgrades, new servers, personal computers, telecom-
munications equipment and software enhancements. The decrease
in cash used in investing activities in 2004 was primarily due to a
decrease in net purchases of short-term investments, less net cash
paid for acquisitions and lower software development expenditures
in the current year than in the prior year. This was partially offset by
increased capital expenditures. ‘

For the year ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, cash
used in financing activities was $359 million, $45 million and
$52 million, respectively. The increase in the use of cash from
financing activities in 2005 was primarily due to repurchases of our
common stock though open market repurchases and the tender
offer in the second quarter of 2005, an increase in repayments of
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debt, partially offset by increased short term borrowings. The
decrease in cash used in financing activities in 2004 was primarily
due to reduced spending on capital lease obligations and due to
increased proceeds from the exercise of stock options resulting from
more options becoming vested. These lower uses of cash were offset
by increased payments on our long-term debt as the installments on
our unsecured senior term notes have begun to come due.

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment and soft-
ware were approximately $177 million, $94 million and $68 mil-
lion for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The Company’s significant investments in 2005 were
for computer and telecommunications equipment, leasehold
improvements and furniture and fixtures.

Commitments

Significant ongoing commitments consist primarily of leases, debt,
purchase commitments and other long-term liabilities. The follow-
ing table shows the minimum payments required under existing
agreements which have initial or remaining non-cancelable terms in
excess of one year as of September 30, 2005.

Contractual Obligations
: Payments Due in Fiscal Year
In millions Total 2006 2007-2008 2009-2010 Thereafter
Operating leases™ $ 737 $ 89 $149 $123 $376
Capital leases: i
Principal 80 4 9 11 56
Interest 41: 6 11 9 15
121, 10 20 20 71
Debt:
Principal 259, 36 50 30 143
Interest 50 12 18 13 7
309 48 68 43 150
Purchase commitments 73 34 37 2 —
Other long-term liabilities 72 8 16 9 39
Total contractual obligations $1,312 $189 $290 $197 $636

n May and July 2005, FORE Holdings, our former parent company and a related party, sold properties and its rights as lessor for a number of the properties in which the Com-
pany leases space. As a result, our operating leases are all with third parties and there are no remaining operating leases with related parties (see Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements for additional information). In exchange for certain waivers and covenant changes stemming from the property sale, we received $3 million which is
being amortized as a reduction of our rent expense over the remainder of the related leases.
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Operating and Capital Leases

We have various third party operating leases for office space, furni-
ture and equipment such as copiers, servers and disk drives with
terms ranging from one to twenty years.

During fiscal 2002, we entered into two 15-year capital leases for
office space. Additionally, we have various telecommunications
equipment installment notes under capital lease which are payable
over three-to-five years and are secured by the related equipment.

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for addi-
tional information on operating and capital leases.

Debt
Our debt consists primarily of lines of credit, term notes, and equip-
ment financing arrangements.

Variable Interest Rate Debt

Lines of Credit and Credit Facilities

On May 23, 2005, Hewitt closed on a five-year credit facility, with a
six-bank syndicate, that provides for borrowings up to $200 mil-
lion. This facility replaced a three-year facility that was scheduled to
expire on September 27, 2005. Borrowings under the new facility
accrue interest at LIBOR plus 30-to-60 basis points or the prime
rate, at our option. Borrowings are repayable upon demand or at
expiration of the facility on May 23, 2010. Quarterly facility fees
ranging from 7.5-to-15 basis points are charged on the average daily
commitment under the facility. At September 30, 2005, there were
no borrowings outstanding against the new facility.

In connection with the Exult merger, we assumed a domestic
unsecured revolving line of credit facility which provides for bor-
rowings up to $25 million dnd which expires on October 1, 2007.
Borrowings under the facility accrue interest at LIBOR plus
52.5-72.5 basis points or a base rate. A commitment fee of 0.125%
per annum is charged on the unused portion of the facility. At
September 30, 2005, §9.8 million was outstanding on the line of
credit and was accruing interest at 4.84%.

Hewitt Bacon & Woodrow Ltd. (“HBW”), a UK. subsidiary, has
an unsecured British pound sterling line of credit permitting bor-
rowings up to £5 million, at a current rate of 5.525%. The line of
credit expires on July 31, 2006. As of September 30, 2005, there
was no outstanding balance on the line of credit.

On December 22, 2004, HBW entered into a £6 million term
loan credit facility agreement. The loan is repayable in 24 quarterly
installments through December 2010 and accrues interest at LIBOR
plus 80 basis points. Interest is currently accruing at 5.4925% at
September 30, 2005. At September 30, 2005, the outstanding bal-
ance of the term loan was approximately £6 million or $11 million.

Other foreign debt outstanding at September 30, 2005 and 2004
totaled $1.6 million and §0.7 million, respectively, pursuant to local
banking relationships.
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Multi-Currency Credit Facility

We have a contract with a global lending institution to guarantee
borrowings of our subsidiaries up to $20 million in multiple cur-
rency loans and letters of credit. There is no fixed termination date
on this contract. This contract allows Hewitt's foreign subsidiaries to
secure financing at rates based on Hewitt'’s creditworthiness. The
contract was signed August 31, 2004, and $1.4 million of the facility
is available for Hewitt's India office to support local letters of credit
and bank guarantees. The facility provides for borrowings at LIBOR
plus 75 basis points. As of September 30, 2005 there were borrow-
ings of $12 million.

Fixed Interest Rate Debt

Unsecured Senior Term Notes

We have issued unsecured senior term notes to various financial
institutions consisting primarily of insurance companies totaling
$121 million as of September 30, 2005. The $121 million consists of
the following notes (in thousands):

Interest
Amount Rate Terms
$ 10,000 7.65% Repayable in October 2005
15,000 7.93% Repayable in June 2007
6,000 7.94% Repayable in five annual installments which
began in March 2003
30,000 7.45% Repayable in five annual installments which
began in May 2004
10,000 8.11% Repayable in June 2010
15,000 7.90% Repayable in October 2010
35,000 8.08% Repayable in five annual installments
beginning in March 2008
$121,000

Convertible Senior Notes

Subsequent to our merger with Exult, Hewitt became the sole obligor
and assumed obligations on $110 million of 2.50% Convertible
Senior Notes due October 1, 2010. The notes rank equally with all of
our existing and future senior unsecured debt and are effectively sub-
ordinated to all liabilities of each of our subsidiaries. We recorded
the notes at their estimated fair value of $102 million at the merger
date and are accreting the value of the discount over the remaining
term of the notes to their stated maturity value using a method that
approximates the effective interest method. As of September 30,
2005 the outstanding balance on the notes was $104 million.

The notes are convertible into shares of Hewitt Class A common
stock at any time before the close of business on the date of their
maturity, unless the notes have previously been redeemed or repur-
chased, if (1) the price of Hewitt’s Class A common stock issuable
upon conversion of a note reaches a specified threshold, (2) the



notes are called for redemption, (3) specified corporate transactions
occur or (4) the trading price of the notes falls below certain thresh-
olds. The initial conversion rate is 17.0068 shares of Hewitt Class A
common stock per each §1,000 principal amount of notes, subject
to adjustment in certain circumstances. This is equivalent to an ini-
tial conversion price of approximately $58.80 per share. Based upon
this conversion price, the notes if converted, would be convertible
into 1,870,748 shares of Hewitt Class A common stock. ‘

On or afier October 5, 2008, we have the option to redeem all
or a portion of the notes that have not been previously converted
or repurchased at a redemption price of 100% of the principal
amount of the notes plus accrued interest and liquidated damages
owed, if any, to the redemption date. Similarly, the convertible debt
note holders have the option, subject to certain conditions, to
require Hewitt to repurchase any notes held by the holders on
October 1, 2008 or upon a change in control at a price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued interest and
liquidated damages owed, if any, to the date of purchase.

Debt Covenants

A number of our debt agreements contain financial and other
covenants including, among others, covenants restricting our ability
to incur indebtedness and create liens, to sell the assets or stock of a
collateralized subsidiary, and to pay dividends or make distributions
to FORE Holdings' owners, a violation of which would result in a
default. Our debt agreements and certain property leases also con-
tain covenants requiring Hewitt Associates LLC and its affiliates to
maintain a minimum level of net worth of $237 million at Septem-
ber 30, 20085, to maintain interest rate coverage of at least 2.00-to-
1.00 and to maintain a leverage ratio of debt to cash flow not to
exceed 2.25-to-1.00 or debt to EBITDA of 2.50-t0-1.00. At Septem-
ber 30, 2005, we were in compliance with the terms of our debt
agreements.

Purchase Commitments

Purchase commitments include, among other things, telecommuni-
cation usage, software licenses, consulting contracts and insurance
coverage obligations as well as other obligations in the ordinary
course of business that we cannot cancel or where we would be
required to pay a termination fee in the event of cancellation.

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of payments for pension
plans, post retirement benefit plans, and other long-term liabilities.
As part of our merger with Exult, we acquired certain software licenses
for resale totaling approximately $il million under a long-term
arrangement which requires periodic payments through June 2009.
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Self-Insurance

We established a captive insurance subsidiary in fiscal 2003 as a
cost-effective way to self-insure against certain business risks and
losses. The captive insurance subsidiary has issued policies to cover
the deductible and an excess portion of various insured exposures,
including the deductible portions of our workers compensation and
professional liability insurance. We carry an umbrella policy to
cover exposures in excess of our deductibles.

Share Repurchase and Tender Offer

On June 16, 2004, we announced that our Board of Directors
authorized the repurchase of up to an aggregate amount of
$150 million of Hewitt’s Class A, Class B and Class C common stock,
depending on market conditions and other customary factors, in
light of our cash position and expected future cash flows. Through
February 4, 2005, we repurchased 2,393,450 shares of our Class A
common stock under this authorization for $68.2 million at an
average price per share of $28.51.

On February 4, 2005, we announced that our Board of Directors
authorized the replacement of the $150 million share repurchase
program with a plan to repurchase up to $300 million of Hewitt’s Class
A, Class B and Class C common shares in the next twelve months,
depending on market conditions and other customary factors.

On February 11, 2005, we announced that our Board of Directors
had authorized the repurchase of up to 8.0 million shares of our
Class A, Class B and Class C common stock through a modified
“Dutch Auction” tender offer including the right to purchase addi-
tional shares for a total repurchase of up to $300 million. The tender
offer expired on March 16, 2005 and we repurchased 6,662,954
Class A shares and 3,681,872 Class B shares, or 10,344,826 shares in
total, at a purchase price of $29.00 per share. Upon repurchase, the
Class B shares were converted into Class A shares. The aggregate
amount paid for the shares was $300 million and we also incurred
approximately $0.7 million of estimated tender-related professional
expenses. A total of $300.7 million was recorded as treasury stock,
at cost, in the quarter ended March 31, 2005.

We believe the cash on hand, together with funds from operations,
other current assets, and existing credit facilities will satisfy our
expected working capital, contractual obligations, capital expendi-
tures, and investment requirements for at least the next 12 months
and the foreseeable future.
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Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements relating to our
operations that are based on our current expectations, estimates and
projections. Words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “continues,”
“estimates,” “expects,” “goal,” “intends,” “may,” “opportunity,”
“plans,” “potential,” “projects,” “forecasts,” “should,” “will,” and
similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking
statements. These statements are not guarantees of future per-
formance and involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are
difficult to predict. Forward-looking statements are based upon
assumptions as to future events that may not prove to be accurate.
Actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is
expressed or forecasted in these forward-looking statements. Actual
results may differ from the forward-looking statements for many
reasons. For a more detailed discussion of our risk factors, see the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-X for the year ended Septem-
ber 30, 2005, in Item 1. under the heading “Risk Factors.” We
undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or for any other reason.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risk primarily from changes in interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Historically, we have not
entered into hedging transactions, such as foreign currency forward
contracts or interest rate swaps, to manage this risk due to our low
percentage of foreign debt and restrictions on our fixed rate debt.
However, we may enter into foreign currency forward contracts
in the future should business conditions require. We do not hold
or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. At
September 30, 2005, we were not a party to any hedging transac-
tion or derivative financial instrument.

Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our portfolio
of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and variable
interest rate debt.

Qur portfolio of cash and cash equivalents and short-term invest-
ments is designed for safety of principal and liquidity. We invest in
the highest rated money market investuments and debt securities and
regularly monitor the investment ratings. The investments are subject
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to inherent interest rate risk as investments mature and are rein-
vested at current market interest rates. The investment portfolio
comnsists primarily of fixed income securities such as commercial
paper, corporate notes, asset-backed securities, U.S. treasuries and
agencies and auction rate municipal bonds. Our portfolio earned
interest at an average rate of 3.65% during the year ended September
30, 2005. A one percentage point change would have impacted our
interest income by approximately $2.13 million for the year ended
September 30, 2005.

Our short-term debt with a variable rate consists of our unse-
cured lines of credit and a term credit loan facility. Our variable
interest rate debt had an effective interest rate of 4.61% during the
year ended September 30, 2005. A one percentage point increase
would have increased our interest expense related to all outstanding
variable rate debt, by approximately $0.23 million for the year
ended September 30, 2005.

Foreign Exchange Risk

For the year ended September 30, 2005, revenues from U.S. opera-
tions as a percent of total revenues were 78.7%. Unrealized foreign
currency translation gains were $3 million for the year ended Sep-
tember 30, 2005, and were primarily due to the changes in the
value of the British pound sterling relative to the US. dollar over the
prior year. We have not entered into any foreign currency forward
contracts for speculative or trading purposes.

Operating in international markets means that we are exposed to
movements in foreign exchange rates, primarily the British pound
sterling and most recently, the Canadian dollar. Approximately 11%
of our net revenues for the year ended September 30, 2005, were
from the United Kingdom. Approximately 3% of our net revenues
for the year ended September 30, 2005, were from Canada. Changes
in these foreign exchange rates can have a significant impact on our
translated international results of operations in U.S. dollars. A 10%
change in the average exchange rate for the British pound sterling for
the year ended September 30, 2005, would have impacted our pre-
tax net operating income by approximately $0.52 million for the
year ended September 30, 2005. A 10% change in the average
exchange rate for the Canadian dollar would have impacted our
pre-tax net operating income by approximately $0.25 million for
the year ended September 30, 2005.



Management's Assessment on Effectiveness of

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The financial statements, financial analyses and all other informa-
tion included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K were prepared by
management, which is responsible for their integrity and objectivity
and for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over
financial reporting.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reportlng
includes those policies and procedures that: ‘

i. pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detaﬂ
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Company;

ii. provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

iil. provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the
Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statemments. ‘

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any internal
control, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention

or overriding of controls. Accordingly, even effective internal con-
trols can provide only reasonable assurances with respect to financial
statement preparation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the
effectiveness of internal controls may vary over time.

Management assessed the design and effectiveness of the Com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30,
2005. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set
forth by the Commirtee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission ("COSO™) in Internal Control——Integrated Frame-
work. Based on management’s assessment using those criteria, as of
September 30, 2005, management believes that the Company’s
internal controls over financial reporting are effective.

Ernst & Young, LLP, independent registered public accounting
firm, has audited the financial statements of the Company for the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and has
attested to management’s assertion regarding the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of September
30, 200S. Their report is presented on the following page. The
independent registered public accountants and internal auditors
advise management of the results of their audits, and make recom-
mendations to improve the systern of internal controls. Management
evaluates the audit recommendations and takes appropriate action.

HEWITT ASSOCIATES, INC.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

on Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Hewitt Associates, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accom-
panying Report on Management's Assessment on Effectiveness of
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Hewitt Associates,
Inc. (the Company) maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of September 30, 2005, based on criteria
established in Internal Control— Integrated Framework issued by the
Comumittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis-
sion (the COSO criteria). Hewitt Associates, Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment about the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effec-
tiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on cur audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
sonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the main-
tenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
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company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Hewitt Associates,
Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as
of September 30, 20085, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Hewitt Associates,
Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005, based on the
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hewitt Associates,
Inc. as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, and for each of the three
years in the period ended September 30, 2005, and our report dated
November 17, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Srmat

Ernst & Young LLP

LLP

Chicago, Illinois
November 17, 2005




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Hewitt Associates, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Hewitt Associates, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Sep-
tember 30, 2005. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
sonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting princi-
ples used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended September 30, 2005, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of Hewitt Associates, Inc.s internal control over finan-
cial reporting as of September 30, 2005, based on criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-
mission and our report dated November 17, 2005 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

Gt + MLLP

Ernst & Young LLP

Chicago, Hlinois
November 17, 2005
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

September 30,

September 30,

Dollars in thousands except share and per share amounts 2005 2004
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 163,928 $ 129,481
Short-term investments 53,693 183,205
Client receivables and unbilled work in process, less allowances
of $23,922 and $21,732 at September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively 595,691 522,882
Refundable income taxes 23,100 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 60,662 50,546
Funds held for clients 97,907 14,693
Deferred income taxes, net 5,902 246
Total current assets 1,000,883 901,053
Non-Current Assets:
Deferred contract costs 253,505 162,602
Property and equipment, net 302,875 236,099
Capitalized software, net 110,997 85,350
Other intangible assets, net 261,999 107,322
Goodwill 694,370 285,743
Other assets, net 32,711 29,805
Total non-current assets 1,656,457 906,921
Total Assets $2,657,340 $1,807,974
Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 57,412 § 20,909
Accrued expenses 156,575 83,226
Funds held for clients 97,907 14,693
Advanced billings to clients 156,257 106,934
Accrued compensation and benefits 141,350 181,812
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt 35,915 13,445
Current portion of capital lease obligations 3,989 5,373
Employee deferred compensation and accrued profit sharing 30,136 49,450
Total current labilities 679,541 475,842
Long-Term Liabilities:
Deferred contract revenues 140,474 118,025
Debt, less current portion 222,692 121,253
Capital lease obligations, less current portion 76,477 79,982
Other long-term liabilities 127,376 83,063
Deferred income taxes, net 99,423 70,456
Total long-term liabilities 666,442 472,779
Total Liabilities $1,345,983 § 948,621
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 12 and 17)
Stockholders’ Equity
Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 750,000,000 shares authorized,
72,970,960 and 32,480,669 shares issued, 59,456,565 and 31,954,151 shares outstanding,
as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively $ 730 $ 325
Class B common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 45,181,849
and 61,707,114 shares issued and outstanding, as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively 452 617
Class C common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 3,540,461
and 4,391,862 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively 35 44
Restricted stock units, 98,967 and 118,363 units issued and outstanding, as of September 30, 2005
and 2004, respectively 2,035 2,166
Additional paid-in capital 1,315,119 633,934
Cost of common stock in treasury, 13,514,395 and 526,518 shares of Class A common stock
as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively (388,638) (13,414)
Retained earnings 329,162 194,430
Unearned compensation (17,326) (27,799)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 69,788 69,050
Total stockholders’ equity 1,311,357 859,353
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $2,657,340 $1,807,974

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Year Ended September 30,

Dollars in thousands except share and per share amounts 2005 2004 2003
Revenues:
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,840,307 $2,204,682 $1,981,656
Reimbursements 58,143 57,545 49,637
Total revenues 2,898,450 2,262,227 2,031,293
Operating expenses: |
Compensation and related expenses, excluding initial public
offering restricted stock awards 1,628,949 1,412,908 1,266,931
Initial public offering restricted stock awards 17,355 16,733 39,010
Reimbursable expenses 58,143 57,545 49,637
Other operating expenses 789,938 431,912 396,009
Selling, general and administrative expenses 169,790 120,296 101,725
Total operating expenses 2,664,175 2,039,394 1,853,312
Operating income 234,275 222,833 177,981
Other expenses, net:
Interest expense (23,086) (18,608) (20,014)
Interest income 8,947 3,316 2,638
Other income, net 379 318 36
Total other expenses, net (13,760) (14,974) (17,340)
Income before income taxes 220,515 207,859 160,641
Provision for income taxes 85,783 85,015 66,364
Net income $ 134,732 § 122,844 $ 94,277
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 1.21 $ 1.28 $ 0.99
Diluted $ 1.19 % 1.25 $ 0.97
Weighted average shares:
Basic 111,340,261 96,031,389 94,783,223
Diluted 113,105,722 97,950,088 96,832,723

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Class A Class B Class C
Preferred Common Shares Common Shares Common Shares
Dollars in thousands except share and per share amounts Shares Shares  Amount Shares  Amount Shares  Amount
Balance at September 30, 2002 — 19,162,660 $192 73,726,424 $737 5,568,869 $ 56
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income - — — — — — —
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Minimum pension liability adjustment — — — — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustments -_— — — — — — —
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income (loss)
Payments for initial public offering costs — — — — — — —
Amortization of unearned compensation — — — — — — —
Tax benefits from stock plans — — — — — — —
Restricted stock unit vesting — 140,285 1 — — — —
Shares exchanged in secondary offering — 11,270,912 113 (10,305,958) (103) (964,954) (10)
Purchase of Class A common shares for treasury — - — — — — —
Issuance of Class A common shares:
Employee stock options — 35,808 — — — — —
Outside Directors — 6,661 — — — — —
Net forfeiture of restricted common stock pursuant
to the global stock plan and other —  (153,139) (1) — — — —
Balance at September 30, 2003 — 30,463,187 305 63,420,466 634 4,603,915 46
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income — — — — — — —
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Minimum pension liability adjustment — — — — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — —
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income
Amortization of unearned compensation — — — — — — —
Tax benefits from stock plans — — — — — — —
Restricted stock unit vesting — 45,982 — — — —_— —
Purchase of Class A common shares for treasury — — — — — — —
Issuance of Class A common shares:
Employee stock options — 185,234 2 — — — —
Outside Directors — 9,440 — — — — —
Rule 144 share conversions and other share conversions — 1,925,405 19 (1,713,352) (17)  (212,053) (2)
Net forfeiture of restricted common stock pursuant
to the global stock plan and other —  (148,579) (1) — — — —
Balance at September 30, 2004 — 32,480,669 325 61,707,114 617 4,391,862 44
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net income — — — — — — —
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Minimum pension liability adjustment — — —_ — — — —
Unrealized gains (losses) on short-term investments — — - — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — —
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Total comprehensive income
Acquisition of Exult — 22,159,921 222 — — — —
Acquisition of Exult Warrant — - — — — — —_
Acquisition of Exult—issuance of restricted stock — 689,823 7 — — — —
Restricted stock award grant — 3,200 — — — — —
Amortization of unearned compensation — — — — — — —
Tax benefits from stock plans — — — — — — —
Restricted stock unit vesting — 37,946 — — — — —
Purchase of Class A common shares for treasury — 3,681,872 37 (3,681,872) (37) — —
Issuance of Class A common shares:
Employee stock options — 445,528 4 — — — —
Outside Directors — 13,932 — — — — —
Rule 144 share conversions and other share conversions — 13,694,794 137 (12,843,393) (128) (851,401) 9)
Net forfeiture of restricted common stock pursuant
to the global stock plan and other — (236,725) 2) — — — —
Balance at September 30, 2005 — 72,970,960  $730 45,181,849 $452 3,540,461 $35

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Hewitt Associates, Inc.

. Accumulated
Resmctgd Additional Treasury Stock, Retained Other
Stock Units Paid-in at Cost Earnings Unearned Comprehensive
~_ Shares Amount Capital Shares Amount (Deficit) Compensation Income (Loss) Total
319,902 $ 6,078 § 615,377 — $ — $(22,691) $(83,375) $16,191 $ 532,565
-— — — — — 94,277 — —_ 94,277
-— — — — — — — (333) (333)
— — — — — — — 22,699 22,699
22,366
116,643
— — (796) — — — — — (796)
— — — — — — 34,834 — 34,834
— — 12,122 — — — — — 12,122
{140,285) (2,669) 2,668 — — — — — —
— — — 270,294 (6,164) — — — (6,164)
— — 681 — — — — — 681
—_ — 175 — — — — — 175
(5,619) (107) (2,898) — — — 3,007 — 1
173,998 3,302 627,329 270,294 (6,164) 71,586 (45,534) 38,557 690,061
— — — — — 122,844 — — 122,844
— — — — — — — 1,023 1,023
— — — — — — — 29,470 29,470
30,493
153,337
— — — -— 15,017 — 15,017
— — 4,014 — — — -— — 4,014
(45,393) (862) 866 — — — — — 4
— — — 156,224 (7,250) — — — (7,250)
-— — 4,137 — — — (249 — 3,890
4,706 10 410 — — — (140 — 280
(14,948) (284) (2,822) — — — 3,107 — —
118,363 2,166 633,934 526,518 (13,414) 194,430 (27,799) 69,050 859,353
— — — — — 134,732 — — 134,732
— — — — — — — (2,397) (2,397)
—_ — -— — — — — (135) (135)
- —_ — — — — — 3,270 3,270
738
135,470
— — 653,162 — — — (2,014) — 651,370
— — 973 — — — — — 973
15,386 412 18,492 — —_ — (18,911) — —
2,000 54 79 — — — (133) — —
— — — — — — 25,895 — 25,895
— — 3,353 — - — — — 3,353
(37,946) (703) 703 — — — — — —
_ — — 12,987,877 (375,224) — — — (375,224)
— — 9,859 —-— -— — — — 9,863
10,908 320 430 — — — (446) — 304
B (9,744) (214) (5.866) — — — 6,082 — —
98,967 $2,035 $1,315,119 13,514,395 $(388,638) $329,162 $(17,326) $69,788 $1,311,357
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Year Ended September 30,

Dollars in thousands 2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 134,732 $122,844 § 94,277
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 83,720 75,412 76,703
Amortization 65,962 42,806 37,691
Amortization of premiums and discounts on financial instruments 1,625 — —
Impairment of customer relationship intangible assets 9,615 — —
Restricted stock awards 25,895 15,017 34,833
Director stock remuneration 304 280 175
Deferred income taxes 81,788 31,590 36,187
Realized losses on short-term investments, net 476 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Client receivables and unbilled work in process 11,678 (61,890) (52,537)
Refundable income taxes (23,100) — —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 21,266 (6,220) (583)
Funds held for clients (58,577) (6,400) (6,113)
Due from related parties — — 3,468
Deferred contract costs (90,144) (24,427) (13,184)
Accounts payable 14,545 6,001 (12,995)
Accrued compensation and benefits (54,236) 31,524 38,466
Accrued expenses (3,299) 1,427 12,736
Funds held for clients liability 58,577 6,400 6,113
Advanced billings to clients 43,817 (391) 32,811
Deferred contract revenues 22,265 (270) (9,150)
Employee deferred compensation and accrued profit sharing (19,564) 1,724 (9,320)
Other long-term liabilities 18,732 5,662 8,976
Net cash provided by operating activities 346,077 241,089 278,554
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments (220,242) (521,185) (258,975)
Sales of short-term investments 459,175 497,700 156,945
Additions to property and equipment (129,681) (70,025) (43,548)
Additions to capitalized software (47,599) {23,953) {24,153)
Cash paid for acquisitions and transaction costs, net of cash acquired (6,726) (11,450) (65,152)
Increase in other assets (7,349) (6,874) (5,215)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 47,578 (135,787) (240,098)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 9,863 3,890 681
Short-term borrowings 129,048 18,064 7,669
Repayments of short-term borrowings (103,475) (38,639) (32,624)
Repayments of long-term debt (13,000) (13,000) (9,23¢6)
Repayments of capital lease obligations (5,732) (7,684) (11,171)
Purchase of Class A common shares for treasury (375,224) (7,250) (6,164)
Payment of offering costs — — (796)
Net cash used in financing activities (358,520) (44,619) (51,641)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (688) 1,013 2,210
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 34,447 61,696 (10,975)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 129,481 67,785 78,760
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 163,928 $129,481 $ 67,785

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(continued)

Dollars in thousands

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003
Schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition, cash paid, net of cash acquired:
Common stock issued and warrants acquired in connection with acquisition,
net of issuance costs | $652,378 $ — $ —
Transaction costs (3,356) (3,708) —
Fair value of assets acquired (469,251) {3,530) (72,932)
Fair value of liabilities assumed 219,872 2,966 52,126
Goodwill (406,369) (7,178) (44,346)
Cash paid, net of cash acquired (6,726) (11,450) (65,152)
Real estate and equipment purchased under capital leases — 2,917 —
Software licenses purchased under long-term agreements 2,926 7,444 8,146
Supplementary disclosure of cash paid during the year:
Interest paid $ 15,593 $ 18,398 $ 18,390
Income taxes paid 28,942 56,847 8,486

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statemnents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For The Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Dollars in thousands except share and per share amounts

1. Description of Business

Hewitt Associates, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries
(“Hewitt” or the “Company”) provide global human resources out-
sourcing and consulting services. The Company's Outsourcing busi-
ness is comprised of Benefits Outsourcing and Human Resources
Business Process Outsourcing (HR BPO). Hewitt's Consulting business
is primarily comprised of Benefits Consulting, including retirement
and health care consulting, and Talent and Organization Consulting,

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual
basis of accounting. The significant accounting policies are summa-
rized below:

Principles of Consolidation and Combination

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the
operations of the Company and its majority owned subsidiaries after
elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions. Investments
in affiliated companies in which the Company does not have control,
but has the ability to exercise significant influence over governance
and operations (generally 20— 50 percent ownership), are accounted
for by the equity method.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statermnents and related disclosures in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consoli-
dated financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are
used for, but not limited to, the accounting for contract and project
loss reserves, performance-based compensation, the allowance for
doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization, asset impait-
ment, taxes, and any contingencies. Although these estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge of current events and
actions that the Company may undertake in the future, actual results
may be different from the estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues include fees generated from Outsourcing contracts and
from Consulting services provided to the Company's clients. Revenues
from sales or licensing of software are not material. The Company
recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, services have been rendered, our fee is determinable and col-
lectibility is reasonably assured.

The Company’s Outsourcing contracts typically have three- to five-
year terms for benefits services and seven- to ten-year terms for HR
BPO services. The Company recognizes revenues for non-refundable,
up-front implementation fees evenly over the period the related
ongoing services revenues are recognized. Services provided outside
the scope of the Company s Outsourcing contracts are recognized on
a time-and-material or fixed-fee basis.

The Company's clients typically pay for Consulting services either
on a time-and-material or fixed-fee basis. Revenues are recognized
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under time-and-material based arrangements monthly as services
are provided. On fixed-fee engagements, revenues are recognized
either as services are provided using a proportional performance
method or at the completion of a project based on facts and circum-
stances of the client arrangement.

Losses on Outsourcing or Consulting arrangements are recognized
in the period in which a loss becomes probable and the amount of the
loss is reasonably estimable. Contract or project losses are determined
to be the amount by which the estimated direct costs, which include
any remaining deferred contract set up costs, and a portion of indirect
costs exceed the estimated total revenues that will be generated by
the arrangement. Estimates are monitored during the term of the
arrangement and any changes to estimates are recorded in the current
period and can result in either increases or decreases to income.

In connection with the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue
No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables, the Company
has contracts with multiple elements primarily in its Qutsourcing
segment. Multiple-element arrangements are assessed to determine
whether they can be separated into more than one unit of account-
ing. EITF Issue 00-21 establishes the following criteria, all of which
must be met, in order for a deliverable to qualify as a separate unit
of accounting:

* The delivered items have value to the client on a stand-alone basis
* There is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the
undelivered items
» If the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the
delivered items, delivery or performance of the undelivered items is
considered probable and substantially in the control of the Company.
If these criteria are not met, deliverables included in an arrangement
are accounted for as a single unit of accounting and revenue is
deferred until the period in which the final deliverable is provided
or a predominant service level has been attained. If there is objective
and reliable evidence of fair value for all units of accounting in an
arrangement, the arrangement consideration is allocated to the sepa-
rate units of accounting based on each unit’s relative fair value. Rev-
enue is then recognized using a proportional performance method
such as recognizing revenue based on transactional services delivered
or on a straight-line basis (as adjusted primarily for volume changes),
as appropriate.

Revenues earned in excess of billings are recorded as unbilled
work in process. Billings in excess of revenues earned are recorded
as advanced billings to clients, a deferred revenue liability, until
services are rendered.

The Company considers the criteria established by EITF Issue
No. 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent,
in determining whether revenue should be recognized on a gross
versus a net basis. In consideration of these criteria, the Company
recognizes revenue primarily on a gross basis. Factors considered
in determining if gross or net recognition is appropriate include
whether the Company is primarily responsible to the client for the
services, changes the delivered praduct, performs part of the service
delivered, has discretion on vendor selection, or bears credit risk. In
accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-14, Income Statement Characterization




of Reimbursements Received for “Out-of-Pocket” Expenses Incurred, reim-
bursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred are char-
acterized as revenues and are shown as a separate component of
total revenues. Similarly, related reimbursable expenses are also
shown separately within operating expenses.

Deferred Contract Costs and Deferred Contract Revenues

For long-term Outsourcing service agreements, implementation
efforts are often necessary to set up clients and their human resource
or benefit programs on the Company's systems and operating
processes. For Outsourcing services sold separately or accounted for
as a separate unit of accounting; speciﬁc, incremental and direct
costs of implementation incurred prior to the services going live are
deferred and amortized over the period the related ongoing services
revenue is recognized. Such costs may include internal and external
costs for coding or creating customizations of systems, costs for
conversion of client data and costs to negotiate contract terms. For
Cutsourcing services that are accounted for as a combined unit of
accounting; specific, incremental and direct costs of implementa-
tion, as well as ongoing service delivery costs incurred prior to rev-
enue recognition commencing are deferred and amortized over the
remaining contract services period. Implementation fees are also
generally received from our clients either up front or over the ongo-
ing services period in the fee per participant. Lump sum implemen-
tation fees received from a client are initially deferred and then
recognized as revenue evenly over the contract ongoing services
period. If a client terminates an Outsourcing services arrangement
prior to the end of the contract, a loss on the contract may be
recorded if necessary and any remaining deferred implementation
revenues and costs would then be recognized into earnings through
the termination date.

Performance-Based Compensation

The Company's compensation program includes a performance-
based component that is determined by management subject to
annual review by the Compensation and Leadership Committee of
the Board of Directors. Performance-based compensation is discre-
tionary and is based on individual, team, and total Company per-
formance. Performance-based compensation is paid once per fiscal
year after the Company’s annual operating results are finalized. The
amount of expense for performance-based compensation recog-
nized at interim and annual reporting dates involves judgment, is
based on quarterly and annual results as compared to internal tar-
gets, and takes into account other factors, including industry trends
and the general economic environment. Annual performance-based
compensation levels may vary from current expectations as a result
of changes in the actual performance of the Company, team or indi-
vidual. As such, accrued amounts are subject to change in future
periods if actual future performance varies from performance levels
anticipated in prior interim periods.
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Income Taxes

The Company applies the asset and liability method described in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are rec-
ognized for future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and
tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are meas-
ured using tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years
in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered
or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date. Valuation allowances are recognized to reduce the
deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to
be realized. In assessing the likelihood of realization, management
considers estimates of future taxable income.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s foreign operations use local currency as their func-
tional currency. Accordingly, assets and liabilities of foreign sub-
sidiaries are translated into U.S. Dollars at exchange rates in effect at
year-end, while revenues and expenses are translated at average
exch‘ange rates prevailing during the year. Translation adjustments
are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Gains or losses resulting from
foreign exchange transactions are recorded in earnings within other
income (expense), net.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentra-
tions of credit risk consist of cash equivalents, client receivables and
unbilled work in process. Hewitt invests its cash equivalents in the
highest rated money market and similar investments and continu-
ously monitors the investrment ratings. Concentrations of credit risk
with respect to unbilled revenues and receivables are limited as no
client makes up a significant portion of the Company's billings. Credit
risk itself is imited due to the Company’s large number of Fortune 500
clients, its clients’ strong credit histories, and their dispersion across
many different industries and geographic regions. For each of the
years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, no single client
represented ten percent or more of the Company's total revenues.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and client receiv-
ables are financial assets with carrying values that approximate fair
value. Accounts payable and the Company’s variable rate debt are
financial liabilities with carrying values that approximate fair value.
As of Septemnber 30, 2005 and 2004, the carrying value of the Com-
pany’s fixed rate senior term notes was $121,000 and $134,000,
respectively, and the fair value was estimated to be approximately
$130,992 and $147,000, respectively. The estimate of fair value was
calculated by discounting the future cash flows of the senior term
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notes at rates currently offered to the Company for similar debt
instruments with comparable maturities. The fair value of the Com-
pany’s $103,545 of 2.50% Convertible Senior Notes with a face value
of $110,000 is valued at $§100,513 at September 30, 2005, based on
the current market value of this publicly traded security.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company defines cash and cash equivalents as cash and investments
with maturities of 90 days or less when purchased. At September 30,
2005 and 2004, cash and cash equivalents included cash in checking
and money market accounts as well as corporate tax-advantaged
money market investments maturing in 90 days or less.

Funds Held for Clients

Some of the Company's Outsourcing agreements require the Com-
pany to hold funds on behalf of clients. Funds held on behalf of
clients are segregated from Hewitt corporate funds. The increase in
the funds held for clients at September 30, 2005 from September
30, 2004 is primarily due to the addition of Exult, Inc. in 2005 (see
Note 5 for additional information on the merger with Exult, Inc.)
and the timing of when client obligations become due relative to the
receipt of client funds. There is usually a short period of time
between when we receive funds and when we pay obligations on
behalf of clients.

Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments include marketable equity and debt securi-
ties that are classified as available-for-sale and recorded at fair value.
Unrealized gains or losses are reported as a component of accumu-
lated other comprehensive income (loss). Realized gains or losses
are reported in other expenses, net on the consolidated statements
of operations.

Client Receivables and Unbilled Work in Process

The Company periodically evaluates the collectibility of its client
receivables and unbilled work in process based on a combination
of factors. In circumstances where the Company becomes aware
of a specific client’s difficulty in meeting its financial obligations
(e.g., bankruptcy filings, failure to pay amounts due to the Company
or to others), the Company records an allowance for doubtful
accounts to reduce the client receivable or unbilled work in process
to what the Company reasonably believes will be collected. For all
other clients, the Company recognizes an allowance for doubtful
accounts based on past write-off history and the length of time the
receivables are past due or unbilled work in process is not billed.
Facts and circumstances may change that would require the Com-
pany to alter its estimates of the collectibility of client receivables
and unbilled work in process.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, which include amounts recorded under
capital leases, are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization
are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets, which are as follows:

Asset Description Asset Life
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
Telecommunications equipment 5 years

51to15 years

15 to 39 years

Lesser of estimated
useful life or lease term

Furniture and equipment
Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of long-lived assets held
for use are assessed by a comparison of the carrying amount of the
asset to the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset. If estimated future undiscounted net
cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, the asset is
considered impaired and expense is recorded in an amount required
to reduce the carrying amount of the asset to its fair value.

Software Development Costs

Software development costs for software developed for internal use
are accounted for in accordance with the American Institute of Certi-
fied Public Accountants’ Staternent of Position No. 98-1 (“SOP 98-1"),
Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use. SOP 98-1 requires the capitalization of certain costs incurred in
connection with developing or obtaining internal use software. The
Company amortizes the software costs over periods ranging from
three to five years.

Costs associated with the planning and design phase of the devel-
opment of software products, including coding and testing activities
necessary to establish technological feasibility of computer software
products to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed, are expensed as
incurred. Once technological feasibility has been determined, costs
incurred in the construction phase of software development,
including coding, testing, and product quality assurance are capital-
ized. Capitalization ceases when the software products are available
for release to customers.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment annually
or more frequently if indicators arise. The evaluation is based upon a
comparison of the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to which
the goodwill has been assigned to the sum of the carrying value of




the assets and liabilities for that reporting unit. The fair values used in
this evaluation are estimated based upon discounted future cash flow
projections for the reporting unit. These cash flow projections are
based upon a number of estimates and assumptions. Intangible assets
are initially valued at fair market value using generally accepted valu-
ation methods appropriate for the type of intangible asset. Intangible
assets with definite lives are amortized over their estimated useful
lives and are reviewed for impairment if indicators of impairment
arise. The evaluation of impairment is based upon a comparison of
the carrying amount of the intangible asset to the estimated future
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.
If estimated future undiscounted net cash flows are less than the car-
rying amount of the asset, the asset is considered impaired. The
impairment expense is determined by comparing the estimated fair
value of the intangible asset to its carrying value, with any shortfall
from fair value recognized as an expense in the current period.

Amortization of the Company’s definite lived intangible assets are
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, which are as follows:

Asset Description Asset Life

Capitalized software
Trademarks and tradenames
Core technology

Customer relationships

3 to 5 years

3 to 10 years
10 years

10 to 30 years

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under SFAS
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS
No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and
Disclosure, which allows companies to apply the provisions of
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, and provide pro forma net income and net
income per share disclosures for employee stock option grants as if
the fair value method defined in SFAS No. 123 had been applied.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No.
123(R)"), which revises SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB No. 25 and
its related implementation guidance. Beginning October 1, 2005,
the Company will be required to record compensation expense for
its employee stock options in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R).

Restricted stock awards, including restricted stock and restricted
stock units, are measured using the fair market value of the stock as
of the grant date and are initially recorded as unearned compensa-
tion on the balance sheet. As the restricted stock awards vest, the
unearned compensation is amortized to compensation expense on a
straight-line basis. Employer payroll taxes are also recorded as
expense when they become due over the vesting period. The
remaining unvested shares are subject to forfeiture and restrictions
on sale or transfer for four years from the grant date.

The Company also granted non-qualified stock options at an
exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Company’s stock
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on the grant date. Under APB Opinion No. 25, because the stock
options have no intrinsic value on the grant date, no compensation
expense is recorded in connection with the stock option grants.
Generally, stock options vest 25 percent on each anniversary of the
grant date, are fully vested four years from the grant date, and have a
term of ten years.

For purposes of SFAS No. 123 pro forma disclosures, applying the
Black-Scholes valuation method, had the estimated fair value of the
stock options been amortized to compensation expense over the
stock options’ vesting period, the Company’s pro forma net income
and earnings per share would have been as follows:

Year Ended September 30,
2005 2004 2003
Net income:
Asreported $134,732 $122,844 $94,277
Stock-based
compensation expense
included in reported net
income, net of tax 17,259 9,872 23,016
Pro forma stock
compensation expense,
net of tax (45,077)  (19,807)  (28,459)
Adjusted net income $106,914  $112,909 $ 88,834
Net income per
share —basic:
Asreported $ 121§ 1.28 $ 099
Adjusted net income
per share $ 096 § 1.18 $ 094
Net income per
share —diluted:
As reported $ 1.19 8 1.25 § 097
Adjusted net income
per share $ 095 & 1.15 $ 092

The above pro forma information regarding net income and
earnings per share has been determined as if the Company had
accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value
method. The fair value for these stock options was estimated at the
date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions:

20050 2004 2003
Expected volatility — 35% 35%
Risk-free interest rate — 3.36%-3.47% 2.87%-3.37%
Expected life — 5 5
Dividend yield — 0% 0%

The Company did not grant any stock options in the year ended September 30, 2005.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (R), Share-Based
Payment, which eliminates the ability to account for share-based
compensation transactions using the intrinsic value method pre-
scribed in APB Opinion No. 25, and generally requires that such
transactions be accounted for using a fair value-based method. The
SEC recently extended the effective date of SFAS No. 123(R}), such
that the Company would begin to apply the Statement on October 1,
2005, the beginning of the Company's 2006 fiscal year. The Com-
pany plans to apply SFAS No. 123 (R) using the Modified Prospective
method. Compensation expense for the unvested awards at October
1, 2005 will be measured based on the fair values of the awards pre-
viously calculated in preparing the pro forma disclosures in accor-
dance with the provisions of SFAS 123, less adjustments for
forfeitures and additional adjustments prescribed by SFAS 123(R).
The estimated cumulative effect of the change in accounting princi-
ple upon adoption of SFAS 123(R) is not expected to be material.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
("AJCA”) became effective. The AJCA provides a temporary incentive
for U.S. multinationals to repatriate accumulated earnings outside the
United States by providing an 85 percent dividends received deduc-
tion for certain dividends from controlled foreign corporations. The
AJCA applies to repatriated foreign earnings in either the Company's
fiscal year ending September 30, 2005 or the Company’s fiscal year
ending September 30, 2006. In December 2004, the FASB issued
FASB Statement of Position 109-2 (“FSP 109-2"), Accounting and Dis-
closure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which provides accounting and
disclosure guidance for the repatriation provision. FSP 109-2 was
effective immediately, however, companies were allowed time
beyond the financial reporting period of enactment to evaluate the
effect of the AJCA on its plan for reinvestment or repatriation of for-
eign earnings, as it applies to the application of SFAS No. 109. During
the year ended September 30, 2005, the Company recorded a $147
tax liability associated with the planned voluntary repatriation of
funds, which were repatriated prior to September 30, 2005.

In September 2004, the FASB's Emerging Issues Task Force
(“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 04-08, The Effect of
Contingently Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings per Share. The
Task Force reached a conclusion that Contingently Convertible
Instruments (“Co-Cos”) should be included in diluted earnings per
share computations, if dilutive, regardless of whether the market
price trigger or other contingent feature has been met. With the
merger with Exult, Inc. and the assumed obligation of $102,300 of
Exult’s convertible senior notes on October 1, 2004, the Company’s
earnings per share computations now include the dilutive effects, if
any, of the acquired convertible notes. See Note 4 for additional
information on earnings per share.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the
current year presentation.
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3. Tender Offer

On June 16, 2004, the Company announced that its Board of Direc-
tors authorized the repurchase up to an aggregate amount of
$150,000 of Hewitt’s Class A, Class B and Class C common stock,
depending on market conditions and other customary factors, in
light of the Company’s cash position and expected future cash flows.
Through February 4, 2005, the Company repurchased 2,393,450
shares of its Class A common stock under this authorization for
$68,234 at an average price per share of $28.51.

On February 4, 2005, the Company announced that its Board
of Directors authorized the replacement of the $150,000 share
repurchase program with a plan to repurchase up to $300,000
of Hewitt’s Class A, Class B and Class C common shares, in the
next twelve months depending on market conditions and other
customary factors.

On February 11, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of
Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 8,000,000 shares of its
Class A, Class B and Class C common stock through a modified
“Dutch Auction” tender offer including the right to purchase addi-
tional shares for a total repurchase of up to $300,000. The tender
offer expired on March 16, 2005 and the Company repurchased
6,662,954 Class A shares and 3,681,872 Class B shares, or
10,344,826 shares in total, at a purchase price of $29.00 per share.
Upon repurchase, the Class B shares were converted into Class A
shares. The aggregate amount paid for the shares was $300,000,
which was funded through the sale of investments, cash on hand
and short-term borrowings. The Company also incurred approxi-
mately $712 of estimated tender-related professional expenses.
A total of $300,712 was recorded as treasury stock, at cost.

4. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net
income by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock
outstanding, Diluted EPS includes the components of basic EPS and
also gives effect to dilutive common stock equivalents. Treasury
stock is not considered outstanding for either basic or diluted EPS as
weighted from the date the shares were placed into treasury. For
purposes of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share, vested
restricted stock awards are considered outstanding. Under the treas-
ury stock method, diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that
could occur if securities or other instruments that are convertible
into common stock were exercised or could result in the issuance
of common stock. Potentially dilutive common stock equivalents
include unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units, unexer-
cised stock options and warrants that are “in-the-money” and out-
standing convertible debt securities which would have a dilutive
effect if converted from debt to common stock. Restricted stock
awards generally vest 25 percent on each anniversary of the grant
date and are not considered outstanding in basic earnings per share
until the vesting date.




Each share of the Company’s Class B and Class C common stock
is convertible into Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis,
subject to certain restrictions, and has been included in both basic
and diluted outstanding shares.
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The following table presents computations of basic and diluted
EPS in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America:

Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003
Net income as reported $134,732 $122,844 $94,277
Weighted-average number of common stock for basic 111,340,261 96,031,389 94,783,223
Incremental effect of dilutive common stock equivalents:
Unvested restricted stock awards 687,104 741,387 1,312,259
Unexercised in-the-money stock options 1,078,357 1,177,312 737,241
Weighted-average number of common stock for diluted 113,105,722 97,950,088 96,832,723
Earnings per share—basic $ 121 $ 1.28 $ 099
Earnings per share—diluted $ 119 § 1.25 $ 097

Debt securities convertible into 1,870,748 weighted-average shares
of Class A common stock were outstanding in the year ended Sep-
tember 30, 2005, but were not included in the computation of
diluted earnings per share because the effect of including the con-
vertible debt securities would be antidilutive, as the effect of the
assumed discontinuation of interest expense would be greater than
the addition of assumed converted shares. Warrants to purchase
200,000 weighted-average shares of Class A common stock, which
the Company assumed in the Exult transaction, were outstanding in
the year ended September 30, 2005, but were not included in the
computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price
of the warrants was greater than the average market price of the
Class A common stock. The Company did not have any convertible
debt securities or warrants in the prior-year periods. Stock options
to purchase 958,995 weighted-average shares in 2005, 996,380
weighted-average shares in 2004 and 51,782 weighted-average
shares in 2002 of Class A common stock, were outstanding but were
not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share
because the exercise prices of the options were greater than the
average market price of the Class A common stock. ‘

5. Acquisitions

The Company continually assesses strategic acquisitions to comple-
ment its current business or expand related services. During fiscal
2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company completed the following
acquisitions:

2005 Acquisitions

Exult Merger

On June 15, 2004, the Company entered into an Agreement and
Plan of Merger with Exult, Inc. ("Exult”), a leading provider of HR
business process outsourcing. On October 1, 2004, after obtaining
regulatory and stockholder approvals, the merger was completed.
Under the Agreement, each share of Exult common stock outstand-
ing immediately prior to the effective time of the merger was con-
verted into 0.2 shares of Hewitt Class A common stock. The purchase
price of $684,969 consisted of the issuance of 22,159,921 shares of
Hewitt Class A common stock valued at $653,939, the settlement
payment for the cancellation of all Exult unexercised stock options
of $23,545, transaction costs of $6,512, and the estimated fair value
of the assumed Exult stock warrants of $973. The fair value of the
shares of Hewitt Class A common stock of $29.51 was based upon
the average of the closing prices of the Company's Class A common
stock for the period commencing two trading days before, and end-
ing two trading days after, June 16, 2004, the date of the announce-
ment of the merger. The Company estimated the fair value of the
assumed warrants by utilizing the Black-Scholes method.
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The merger has been accounted for as a purchase business combi-
nation. Under the purchase method of accounting, the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed from Exult are recorded in the con-
solidated financial statemenus at their respective fair values as of the
merger date. The final valuation and allocation of the purchase price
to net assets acquired resulted in an allocation of $399,508 to good-
will, all of which was assigned to the Outsourcing segment. No por-
tion of this goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
The combined results of operations from the merger are included in
the consolidated financial statements within the Outsourcing seg-
ment from October 1, 2004, the date of the merger.

The Company has determined the following estimated fair values
for the assets purchased and liabilities assumed as of the merger
date. During the year, the Company finalized estimates related to
the net assets acquired. The change in estimates of client contract
reserves, contractual customer relationships and core technology
intangible assets, and related deferred taxes increased goodwill by
$33,623 during the year ended September 30, 2005. Fair values for
tangible assets were estimated by the Company and third party
appraisers and fair values for intangible assets were valued by
independent third party valuation advisors based on information

provided by the Company.

October 1, 2004
$ 684,969

Total purchase price

Less net assets acquired:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,585
Short-term investments 110,412
Client receivables and unbilled revenues 79,525
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 46,388
Property and equipment 14,179
Customer relationships (10-15 year estimated lives) 136,593
Core technology (10 year estimated life) 44,000
Purchased software (3-5 year estimated lives) 7,210
Trademarks and tradenames (10 year estimated life) 2,000
Deferred tax assets, net 53,191
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (134,862)
Convertible senior notes (102,300)
Other assets and liabilities, net (2,460)
285,461
Goodwill $ 399,508

In connection with the merger, the Company formulated facility exit
and severance strategies. The Company recorded $13,721 of esti-
mated liabilities for costs related to Exult facilities consolidation, the
related impact on Exult outstanding real estate leases and Exult
involuntary employee terminations and relocations. The following
table shows the activity in these exit accruals since October 1, 2004.
Accrued facility exit and severance costs as of September 30, 2005
are expected to be settled by August 2006.
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Facility Exit and Severance Cost Accrual

Balance October 1, 2004 $13,721
Cash payments (2,351)
Balance December 31, 2004 11,370
Cash payments (1,002)
Adjustments to the estimate®” 788
Other® 292
Balance March 31, 2005 11,448
Cash payments (262)
Adjustments to the estimate® (3,202)
Other® 51
Balance June 30, 2005 8,035
Cash payments (2,561)
Adjustments to the estimate® 693
Other® 48
Balance September 30, 2005 $ 6,215

®Changes in the estimated facility exit and severance cost accrual in the quarter ended
March 31, 20085, resulted from the inclusion of additional facility exit costs, primarily
related to revised rent expense estimates.

@Other represents foreign currency translation and imputed interest.

®Changes in the estimated facility exit and severance cost accrual in the quarter ended
June 30, 20065, related primarily to lower exit costs as a result of a lease termination
ahead of the estimated exit date for one location.

®Changes in the estimated facility exit and severance accrual in the quarter ended Sep-
tember 30, 2005, resulted from additional accrued severance expenses for actions
identified at the acquisition date but not finalized and announced until the fourth
quarter. The increase in the accrual was offset by a reduction in estimated expenses
for remaining facility exit and severance plans.
As part of the merger, the Company assumed $110,000 of Exult’s
2.5% convertible senior notes, due on October 1, 2010, which may
be converted to 1,870,748 shares of Hewitr Class A common stock
at a $58.80 conversion price. In connection with the merger, the
Company granted 692,139 shares of Class A unvested restricted
stock and restricted stock units to certain Exult employees. These
awards were valued at $18,535 on the October 1, 2004 grant date
(a price of $26.78 per share). This amount was recorded as
unearned compensation and is being expensed ratably through the
vesting date of June 27, 2006.

As part of the Company’s merger with Exult, the Company
assumed an obligation under a fully vested warrant to purchase up
to 200,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. The
warrant expires in April 2008 and is currently exercisable. The war-
rant may only be exercised in its entirety, must be exercised in a
single transaction and must be exercised on a cashless, net issuance
basis. The exercise price is derived from a formula with a minimum
exercise price of $37.75 per share.

Assuming the acquisition of Exult occurred at the beginning of
fiscal 2004, pro forma net revenues would have been approximately
$2,662,252, pro forma net income would have been approximately
$114,698 and pro forma earnings per share basic and diluted would
have been approximately $0.97 and $0.95, respectively. These pro
forma results, which are unaudited, are not necessarily indicative of
what would have occurred if the acquisition had been consummated




at the beginning of 2004, nor are they necessarily indicative of
future consolidated operating results.

Other 2005 Acquisitions ‘
On July 13, 2005, the Company acquired a minority interest in a
German actuarial business (“investee™) for approximately $5,400.
Under the terms of the purchase agreement, the Company will con-
tribute net assets from its existing German actuarial business in
October 2005 and in return will receive additional interest. The Com-
pany will continue to hold a minority position after the contribution
of assets and as such, the Company’s investment will be accounted
for under the equity method of accounting. At the end of year six, the
Company has an option to purchase the remaining interest in the
investee and the investee stockholders have an option to put their
remaining interest in the investee to the Company. The final pur-
chase price will be subject to a third party independent appraiser. .
On September 5, 2005, the Company purchased 100% of the
cutstanding shares of a pension management business in the
Netherlands for approximately $11,400. The purchase price is
subject to certain contingent payments based on the final opening
balance sheet. The contingent payments are not expected to be
material to the Company. ‘

2004 Acquisitions

During 2004, the Company acquired a controlling interest in a joint
venture investment in Puerto Rico and the remaining interest in a
joint venture investment in India. The Company acquired these enti-
ties for cash at an aggregate cost of $13,249. The purchase price alloca-
tions resulted in the aggregate allocation of $3,569 to goodwill, of
which 82,572 was assigned to the Outsourcing segment, with the
remainder of $997 assigned to the Consulting segment. The Company
expects all of the goodwill to be deductible for U.S. tax purposes.
These acquisitions are not considered to be material to the Com-
pany, and, therefore, pro forma information has not been presented.

2003 Acquisitions

Benefits Administration and Actuarial Business of the Northern Trust Corporation
On June 15, 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the
assets of Northern Trust Retirement Consulting LLC, Northern Trust
Corporation’s retirement consulting and administration business
("NTRC"), which provides retirement consulting and actuarial
services and defined benefit, defined contribution and retiree health
and welfare administration services. The benefit administration
business operates within the Company’s Outsourcing segment and
the retirement consulting and actuarial business within the Consult-
ing segment. The purchase price was comprised of $17,600 in cash
for the assignment of client, vendor and third-party contract rights
and obligations applicable to the acquired business; computer
equipment, furniture and leasehold improvements owned or leased
by NTRC in its Atlanta, Georgia facility, and the assumption of
NTRC's real estate lease obligation for its Atlanta, Georgia facility.

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

The allocation of the purchase price resulted in the allocation of
$7,821 to goodwill. The Company expects all of the goodwill to be
deductible for U.S. tax purposes. As part of the acquisition agree-
ment, the Company has agreed with the Northern Trust Corporation
to, on a non-exclusive basis, recommend Northern Trust Corporation’s
custody, trustee and benefit payment services to the Company’s
clients and prospective clients and Northern Trust Corporation has
agreed to recommend the Company’s Outsourcing services to their
clients and prospective clients. NTRC's results of operations are
included within the Company’s historical results from the acquisi-
tion date of June 15, 2003. This acquisition is not considered to be
material to the Company, and, therefore, pro forma information has
not been presented.

Cyborg Worldwide, Inc.

On June 5, 2003, the Company purchased Cyborg Worldwide, Inc.,
the parent of Cyborg Systems, Inc. (“Cyborg”), a global provider
of human resources management software and payroll services.
Cyborg operates within the Company’s Qutsourcing segment. The
purchase price totaled $43,645, and was comprised of $43,000 of
cash and $645 of acquisition related costs, plus the potential for
additional performance-based consideration of up to $30,000
payable through 2006. On June 8, 2004, the Company entered an
agreement with Cyborg’s selling stockholders to settle the perform-
ance-based consideration obligation for $10,000. The allocation of
the $53,645 adjusted purchase price to acquired net assets resulted
in the allocation of $25,353 to goodwill and $30,638 to identifiable
intangible assets, which includes $17,823 to customer relationships
with an estimated twelve-year useful life, $12,116 to capitalized soft-
ware with an estimated five-year life and $699 to trademarks with
an estimated three-year useful life. The preliminary allocation also
included allocations of $9,138 to identifiable assets and $11,484 to
assumed liabilities. The Company expects all of the goodwill to be
deductible for U.S. tax purposes. Cyborg's results of operations are
included within the Company’s historical results from the acquisi-
tion date of June 5, 2003. This acquisition is not considered to be
material to the Company, and, therefore, pro forma information has
not been presented.

Other 2003 Acquisitions

During 2003, the Company acquired the controlling interests in
joint venture investments in the Netherlands, India, and Singapore,
and an actuarial business in Ireland. The Company acquired these
entities for cash at an aggregate cost of $14,617. The allocations of the
purchase price resulted in the aggregate allocation of $17,183 to
goodwill, of which $5,427 was assigned to the Outsourcing
segment, with the remainder of $11,756 assigned to the Consulting
segment. The Company expects approximately one-half of the
goodwill to be deductible for U.S. tax purposes. These acquisitions
are not considered to be material to the Company, and, therefore,
pro forma information has not been presented.
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6. Short-Term Investments
Short-term investments are comprised of available-for-sale securities at September 30, 2005 and 2004, and consist of the following:

September 30, 2005 September 30, 2004

Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Amounts included in short-term investments®:
Corporate notes $ 6,174 $ 6,131 b — 3 —
Asset-backed securities 14,989 14,949 — —
US. Treasuries and Agencies 7,765 7,713 — —
Auction rate municipal bonds 24,900 24,900 183,205 183,205
Short-term investments $53,828 $53,693 $183,205 $183,205

®Prior to the October 1, 2004 merger with Exult, the Company’s short-term investments consisted of auction rate municipal bonds. The Company's investments in these securi-
ties were recorded at cost, whick approximated fair market value due to their variable interest rates which typically reset every 28 to 35 days. As a result, prior to October 1,
2004, the Company had no cumnulative gross unrealized holding gains (losses) or gross realized gains (losses) from its available-for-sale securities. All income generated from
the auction rate municipal bonds is recorded as interest income.

As of September 30, 2005, there were gross unrealized holding gains of $1 and gross unrealized holding losses of $136 from available-for-
sale securities.

Amortized cost and estimated fair market value of debt securities classified as available-for-sale by contractual maturities at September 30,
2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

September 30, 2005 September 30, 2004
Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Amounts included in short-term investments:
Due in less than one year $21,940 $21,846 $ 4,855 $§ 4,855
Due after one year through five years 6,929 6,888 — —
Due after five years through ten years — — 9,500 9,500
Due after ten years 24,959 24,959 168,850 168,850
Short-term investments $53,828 $53,693 $183,205 $183,205
7. Client Receivables and Unbilled Work in Process 8. Property and Equipment
Client receivables and unbilled work in process, net of allowances, at ~ As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, net property and equipment,
September 30, 2005 and 2004, consisted of the following: which includes assets under capital leases, consisted of the following:
2005 2004 2005 2004
Client receivables $384,342  $339,306 Property and equipment:
Unbilled work in process 211,349 183,576 Buildings $ 92,990 § 92,057
$595,691  $522,882 Computer equipment 346,780 282,641
Telecommunications equipment 134,575 116,027
As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, 314,379 and $18,003, respec- Furniture and equipment 116,881 101,493
tively, of long-term unbilled work in process is classified within Leasehold improvements 126,468 92,089
other assets, net. Total property and equipment 817,694 684,307
The activity in the client receivable and unbilled work in process . [egs accumulated depreciation
allowances for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and and amortization (514,819)  (448,208)
2003, consisted of the following: Balance at end of year $302,875 $236,099
2005 2004 2003
Balance at beginning of year  $ 21,732 $ 15,011 $16,160
Increase in allowances 15,157 23,764 17,661
Use of allowances (12,967) (17,043) (18,810)
Balance at end of year $ 23,922 $21,732 $15,011
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9, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The Company adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets, on October 1, 2002, and tests goodwill for impairment annu-
ally or whenever indicators of impairment arise. During the years
ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, no goodwill impaif-
ments were recognized.

The following is a summary of changes in the carrying amount of
goodwill for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004: ‘

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Goodwill, customer relationships, tradename and core technology
additions during the year ended September 30, 2005, resulted pri-
marily from the Company's merger with Exult (see Note 5, Acquisi-
tions). Goodwill additions during the year ended September 30,
2004 resulted from the settlement of the Cyborg performance-
based consideration obligation and from the acquisitions of the
remaining interest in two of the Company’s joint ventures. Goodwill
adjustments during the year ended September 30, 2004 resulted
from purchase price allocation adjustments related to the NTRC

Outsourcing Consulting acquisition, an acquisition in the Netherlands and Switzerland.
Segment Segment Total . . . . .

Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized over
Balance at  their estimated useful lives and are tested for impairment whenever
September 30, 2003 $ 26,741 8232,553  $159,29% jpdjcators of impairment arise. During the year ended September
Additions and 30, 2005, in connection with the termination of two Outsourcing
other adjustments 13,669 (6,495) 7,174 dlient contracts, the Company recorded a $9,615 impairment
Effect of changes in . expense related to customer relationship intangible assets. The fair
foreign exchange rates 245 19,030 19,275 values of the customer relationship intangible assets were estimated
Balance at by discounting the remaining cash flows related to each customer’s
September 30, 2004 40,655 245,088 285,743  contract and were compared to the carrying values of the intangible
Additions and assets to determine the impairment charge. The impairment charge
other adjustments 399,508 6,861 406,369  was recorded in the Outsourcing segment results and shown within
Effect of changes in selling, general and administrative expenses on the Company’s state-

foreign exchange rates 8,338 (6,080) 2,258 ment of operations.
Balance at ‘ The following is a summary of intangible assets at September 30,

September 30, 2005 $448,501  $245,869  $694,370 2005and 2004
September 30, 2005 September 30, 2004
Gross Gross
Carrying  Accumulated Carrying  Accumulated

Definite useful life Amount  Amortization Net Amount  Amortization Net
Capitalized software $310,568 $199,571 $110,997 §£244,265 $158,915 $ 85,350
Trademarks and tradenames 14,164 8,387 5,777 12,478 5,821 6,657
Core technology 44,000 4,400 39,600 — — —
Customer relationships 241,469 24,847 216,622 109,422 8,757 100,665
Total $610,201 $237,205 $372,996 $366,165 $173,493 $192,672

The increases in the gross carrying amounts of customer relation-
ships, core technology and trademarks and tradenames are pri-
marily the result of the Exult merger. The increase in customer
relationships is partially offset by impairment charges of $9,615
incurred in the year ended September 30, 2005.

Amortization expense related to definite-lived intangible assets for
the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, are as follows:

Applying current foreign exchange rates, estimated amortization
expense related to intangible assets with definite lives at September 30,
2005, for each of the years in the five-year period ending September
30, 2010 and thereafter is as follows:

Estimated Intangibles
Amortization Expense

Fiscal year ending:

2006 $ 64,462

2008 2004 2003 2007 53,460

Capitalized software $40,652 $35,063 $32,234 2008 40,505
Trademarks and tradenames 2,840 2,617 2,210 2009 32,986
Core technology 4,400 — — 2010 27,357
Customer relationships 18,070 5,126 3,247 2011 and thereafter 154,226
Total $65,962 $42,806 $37,691 Total $372,996
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10. Other Assets
As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, other assets consisted of the
following:

2005 2004
Other assets:
Long-term unbilled work in process $14,379 $18,003
Prepaid long-term interest and
service contracts 9,012 9,798
Investments in affiliated companies 9,320 2,004
Other assets $32,711 $29,805

The Company has several prepaid long-term contracts for maintenance
on computer software systems. Benefits related to these long-term pre-
paid maintenance contracts are received over the contractual period.

Investments in less than 50%-owned affiliated companies over
which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

11. Debt
Debr at September 30, 2005 and 2004, consisted of the following:

2005 2004

Unsecured lines of credit $21,858 $ —_
Term loan credit facility 10,583 —
Other foreign debt 1,621 698
Unsecured convertible senior term notes 103,545 —_
Unsecured senior term notes 121,000 134,000
258,607 134,698

Current portion 35,915 13,445
Long-term debt, less current portion $222,692  $121,253

The principal portion of long-term debt at September 30, 2005
becomes due as follows:

Fiscal year ending:

2006 $ 35,915
2007 29,867
2008 20,170
2009 10,163
2010 20,156
2011 and thereafter 142,336

Total $258,607

Various debt agreements call for the maintenance of specified finan-
cial ratios, among other restrictions. At September 30, 2005 and
2004, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.

Unsecured Lines of Credit

As part of the Exult transaction, the Company assumed a domestic
unsecured revolving line of credit facility which provides for bor-
rowings up to $25,000 expiring on July 31, 2005. Borrowings
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under the facility accrue interest at LIBOR plus 212.5 basis points or
a base rate. On January 25, 2005, the Company replaced the facility
with a $25,000 unsecured revolving line of credit facility which pro-
vides for borrowings up to $25,000 expiring on October 1, 2007.
Borrowings under this facility accrue interest at LIBOR plus 52.5-
72.5 basis points or a base rate. At September 30, 2005, $9,837 was
outstanding on the line of credit and was accruing interest at 4.84%.

On May 23, 2005, the Company closed on a five-year credit facil-
ity, with a six-bank syndicate, that provides for borrowings up to
$200,000. This facility replaced a three-year facility that was sched-
uled to expire on September 27, 2005. Borrowings under the new
facility accrue interest at LIBOR plus 30-to-60 basis points or the
prime rate, at our option. Borrowings are repayable upon demand or
at expiration of the facility on May 23, 2010. Quarterly facility fees
ranging from 7.5-to-15 basis points are charged on the average daily
commitment under the facility. At September 30, 2005 and 2004,
there were no borrowings outstanding against the new facility.

Hewitt Bacon & Woodrow Ltd., the Company’s U.K. subsidiary,
had an unsecured British pound sterling line of credit. In July 2005,
the line of credit was amended and extended to allow for borrow-
ings up to £5,000 until the expiration of the facility on July 31,
2006. As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, the interest rates on the
line of credit were 5.525% and 5.775%, respectively, and there was
no outstanding balance at either date.

Hewitt has a contract with a lender to guarantee borrowings of its
subsidiaries up to $20 million in multiple currency loans and letters
of credit. There is no fixed termination date on this contract. This con-
tract allows Hewitt’s foreign subsidiaries to secure financing at rates
based on Hewitt’s creditworthiness. The contract was signed August
31, 2004, and $1.4 million of the facility is available for Hewitt’s
India office to support local letters of credit and bank guarantees.
The facility provides for borrowings at LIBOR plus 75 basis points.
As of September 30, 2005, there were borrowings of $12,021 and as
of September 30, 2004, there were no borrowings on this facility.

Term Loan Credit Facility

On December 22, 2004, Hewitt Bacon & Woodrow Ltd., the Com-
pany’s UK. subsidiary, entered into a £6 million term loan credit
facility agreement. The loan is repayable in 24 quarterly installments
through December 2010 and accrues interest at LIBOR plus 80 basis
points. Interest is currently accruing at 5.4925% at September 30,
2005. At September 30, 2005, the outstanding balance of the term
loan was approximately £6 million or $10,583.

Other Foreign Debt
Other foreign debt outstanding at September 30, 2005 and 2004 totaled
$1,621 and $698, respectively, pursuant to local banking relationships.

Unsecured Convertible Senior Term Notes

In connection with the Company’s merger with Exult, the Company
became obligated for $110,000 aggregate principal amount of 2.50%
Convertible Senior Notes due October 1, 2010. The notes rank
equally with all of Hewitt’s existing and future senior unsecured debt



and will be effectively subordinated to all liabilities of each of its sub-
sidiaries. The Company recorded the notes at their estimated fair value
of $102,300 as of October 1, 2004 and is accreting the value of the
discount over the remaining term of the notes to their stated matu-
rity value using a method that approximates the effective interest
method. As of September 30, 2005 the carrying value on the notes
was $103,545, resulting in an unamortized discount of $6,455.

The notes are convertible into shares of Hewitt Class A common
stock at any time before the close of business on the date of their
maturity, unless the notes have previously been redeemed or repur-
chased, if (1) the price of Hewitt’s Class A common stock issuable
upon conversion of a note reaches a specified threshold, (2) the notes
are called for redemption, (3) specified corporate transactions occur
or (4) the trading price of the notes falis below certain thresholds.
The conversion rate is 17.0068 shares of Hewitt Class A common
stock per each $1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjust-
ment in certain circumstances. This is equivalent to a conversion
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price of approximately $58.80 per share. Based upon the $58.80
conversion price, the notes would be convertible into 1,870,748
shares of Hewitt Class A common stock.

On or after October 5, 2008, Hewitt has the option to redeem all
or a portion of the notes that have not been previously converted or
repurchased at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount
of the notes plus accrued interest and liquidated damages owed, if any,
to the redemption date. Holders have the option, subject to certain
conditions, to require Hewitt to repurchase any notes held by the
holder on October 1, 2008 or upon a change in control, at a price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued
interest and liquidated damages owed, if any, to the date of purchase.

Unsecured Senior Term Notes

The unsecured senior term notes were issued to various financial
institutions consisting primarily of insurance companies. The terms
and balances of the unsecured senior term notes are as follows:

Balance at Interest ~ September 30,  September 30,
Terms Issuance Rate 2005 2004
Issued October 16, 2000, repayable on October 15, 2005 $ 10,000 7.65% $ 10,000 $§ 10,000
Issued July 7, 2000, repayable on June 30, 2007 15,000 7.93% 15,000 15,000
Issued March 30, 2000, repayable in five annual installments
beginning March 2003 through March 2007 15,000 7.94% 6,000 9,000
Issued May 30, 1996, repayable in five annual installments
beginning May 2004 through May 2008 50,000 7.45% 30,000 40,000
Issued July 7, 2000, repayable on June 30, 2010 10,000 8.11% 10,000 10,000
Issued on October 16, 2000, repayable on October 15, 2010 15,000 7.90% 15,000 15,000
Issued on March 30, 2000, repayable in five annual installments
beginning March 2008 through March 2012 35,000 8.08% 35,000 35,000
$150,000 $121,000 $134,000

12. Lease Agreements

The Company has obligations under long-term, non-cancelable lease
agreements, principally for office space, furniture, and equipment,
with terms ranging from one to twenty years. Prior to May 20, 2005,
some of the leases were with related parties (see Note 13, Related
Party Transactions). At September 30, 2005, all leases are with
third-parties.

Capital Leases
Capital lease obligations at September 30, 2005 and 2004, consisted
of the following:

2005 2004

Building capital leases $79,834 §83,023
Computer and telecommunications

equipment capital leases 632 2,332

80,466 85,355

Current portion 3,989 5,373

Capital lease obligations,
less current portion $76,477 $79,982

The following is a schedule of minimum future rental payments
required as of September 30, 2005, under capital leases which have an
initial or remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year:

Capital Leases: Principal Interest Total

Fiscal year ending:
2006 $ 3,989 $ 5713 § 9,702
2007 4,271 5,423 9,694
2008 4,675 5,103 9,778
2009 5,147 4,750 9,897
2010 5,738 4,356 10,094
2011 and thereafter 56,646 15,261 71,907

Total minimum

lease payments $80,466 $40,606 $121,072

Building Capital Leases

The Norwalk, Connecticut capital lease is payable in monthly install-
ments at 7.33% interest and expires in April 2017. The lease provides
for stepped rents over the lease term with the option for two
renewal terms of five years each. The capitalized lease and the
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related capital lease obligation were recorded at lease inception and
the capitalized lease asset is being amortized over the remaining
lease term on a straight-line basis. The terms of the lease also pro-
vide the Company with a right of first refusal on sale if the landlord
receives an offer for the sale of the building,

The Newport Beach, California capital lease is payable in monthly
installments at 7.33% interest and expires in May 2017. The lease
provides for stepped rents over the lease term with the option for
two renewal terms of five years each. The capitalized lease and the
related capital lease obligation were recorded at lease inception and
the capitalized lease asset is being amortized over the remaining
lease term on a straight-line basis.

Computer and Telecommunications Equipment Capital Leases

The Company’s computer and telecommunications equipment
installment notes and capitalized leases are secured by the related
equipment and are payable typically over three to five years in
monthly or quarterly installments and at various interest rates
ranging from 2.455% to 7.0%.

Operating Leases

The Company also has various third-party operating leases for office
space, furniture, and equipment with terms ranging from one to
twenty years. The Company has various office leases that grant a free
rent period and have escalating rents. Certain office leases include

landlord incentives for leasehold improvements. Landlord incen-
tives are recognized as a reduction to rental expense over the term of
the lease. The accompanying consolidated statements of operations
reflect rent expense on a straight-line basis recognized over the term
of the leases. The difference between straight-line basis rent and the
amount paid has been recorded as accrued lease obligations. The
Company also has leases that have lease renewal provisions. As of
September 30, 2005 all operating leases outstanding were with
third parties.

The following is a schedule of minimum future rental payments
as of September 30, 2005, under operating leases with an initial or
remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year:

Operating Leases: Total

Fiscal year ending:
2006 $ 89,307
2007 78,911
2008 70,525
2009 64,758
2010 57,931
2011 and thereafter 376,359

Total minimum lease payments $737,791

Total rental expense for operating leases amounted to $120,907,
$115,685 and $104,094 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

13. Related Party Transactions

Historically, the Company entered into real estate transactions as
described below with FORE Holdings LLC, the former parent com-
pany and related party, and its subsidiaries, Hewitt Properties I LLC,
Hewitt Properties 11 LLC, Hewitt Properties III LLC, Hewitt Proper-

Holdings Property Entities Location

ties IV LLC, and Hewitt Properties VII LLC, The Bayview Trust, and
Overlook Associates (a former equity method investment of FORE
Holdings). The following related party leases were outstanding dur-
ing the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Commencement Date Expiration Date

Lincolnshire, Illinois
Lincolnshire, Illinois
Lincolnshire, Illinois
Orlando, Florida

The Woodlands, Texas
Lincolnshire, lllinois

Hewitt Properties I

Hewitt Properties II
Hewitt Properties 11
Hewitt Properties IV
Hewitt Properties IV
Overlook Associates

November 1998 November 2018
December 1999 December 2019
May 1999 May 2014
March 2000 March 2020
March 2000 March 2020

* *

*The Company had several leases with Overlook Associates, the first began in 1989 and the last expires in 2017. On July 28, 2005 FORE Holdings disposed of its 51% interest in

Overlook Associates, so that these leases are no longer with a related party as of that date.

Total lease payments were $23,988, $33,814 and §$34,105 in 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. The leases were entered into on terms
comparable to those which could have been obtained in an arm’s
length transaction. The investment in these properties was funded
through capital contributions by FORE Holdings and third-party
debt. This debt was not reflected on the Company’s balance sheet as
it was an obligation of FORE Holdings and its related parties, and not
an obligation of the Company. The Company does not guarantee the
debt related to these properties.

58

In May 2005, FORE Holdings sold the majority of its properties to
a third party. Upon closing of the sale, Hewitt Associates LLC
entered intoc amended lease agreements with the third party. Under
the amended leases, rent and lease terms remained the same. Hewitt
Associates LLC has agreed to two debt covenants (minimum net
worth and leverage ratio) identical to those that already exist on the
Company’s unsecured senior term notes and Hewitt Associates LLC
also waived a purchase option right with respect to the properties
sold and one other property. In exchange for the amended terms,



Hewitt Associates received $3,000 in consideration at closing from
FORE Holdings. The $3,000 will reduce the Company's rent
expense related to the properties over the remaining lease terms
which run through March 2020.

On July 27, 2005, the Executive Committee of FORE Holdmgs
adopted a Plan of Disposition (the “Plan”). The Plan contemplated
the orderly sale and settlement of the FORE Holdings' remaining
assets and payment or provision for FORE Holdings' liabilities. The
Plan permitted FORE Holdings to sell any or all of its assets without
further approval by its owners. On September 29, 2005, FORE
Holdings transferred its remaining net assets to the FORE Holdings
Liquidating Trust (the “Trust™) and FORE Holdings was dissolved.
The Trust was established for the sole purpose of winding up FORE
Holdings’ affairs and the liquidation of its assets. The Trust will ter-
minate upon the earliest of the distribution of all the Trust’s assets in
accordance with the terms of the Liquidating Trust Agreement or
the expiration of a period of three years from the date assets were
first transferred to the Trust. The existence of the Trust may, how-
ever, be extended to such later date if there is any claim pending by
or against the Trust.

Pursuant to a Services Agreement assigned by FORE Holdings to
the Trust, through the earlier of September 30, 2007 and the termi-
nation of the Trust, Hewitt Associates LLC, a subsidiary of the Com-
pany, will provide certain support services to the Trust, primarily in
the financial, real estate and legal departments, as may be requested
by the Trust from time to time. The Trust will pay Hewitt Associates
LLC an annual fee of $50 for basic services and an additional fee for
additional services on a time-and-materials basis. Fees for services
Hewitt Associates LLC provided under the services agreement,
totaled $69, $117 and $425 for the years ended September 30,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. At September 30, 2005, unpaid
fees from FORE Holdings were $17.

14. Restructuring Activities

The Company realigned its client development group and 1ncurred
one-time severance-related expenses as a result in the year ended
September 30, 2005. The majority of these costs are reflected
within unallocated shared service costs and these expenses are
shown within compensation and related expenses on the Company’s
statement of operations. The Company expects to pay these costs by
January 31, 2006; however, employees were not required to provide
service beyond sixty days. (See Note 20 for additional information.)

Severance

Costs

Severance cost accrual $9,383
Cash payments (6,252)
Adjustments (230)

Balance September 30, 2005 $2,901
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15. Retirement.Plans

Employee 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan

The Company has a qualified 401(k) and profit sharing plan for its
eligible employees. Under the plan, Hewitt makes annual contribu-
tions equal to a percentage of participants’ total cash compensation
and may make additional contributions in accordance with the
terms of the plan. Additionally, employees may make contributions
in accordance with the terms of the plan, with a portion of those
contributions matched by the Company. In 2005, 2004, and 2003,
profit sharing plan expenses were $41,715, $58,035 and $53,980,
respectively.

Defined Benefit Plans

With the acquisition of the actuarial and benefits consulting busi-
ness of Bacon & Woodrow, the Company acquired a defined benefit
pension plan, which was closed to new entrants in 1998 and pro-
vides retirement benefits to eligible employees. The Company also
has other smaller defined benefit pension plans to provide benefits
to eligible employees. It is the Company’s policy to fund in accor-
dance with local practice and legislation.

Healthcare Plans

The Company provides health benefits for retired employees and
certain dependents when the employee becomes eligible for these
benefits by satisfying plan provisions which include certain age and
service requirements. The health benefit plans covering substantially
all U.S. and Canadian employees are contributory, with contribu-
tions reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. These plans
contain other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsur-
ance. The Company does not pre-fund these plans and has the right
to modify or terminate any of these plans in the future.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the
defined benefit and healthcare plans’ benefit obligations and fair

value of assets for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004,
and a statement of funded status as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

Pension Benefits

Health Benefits

2005 2004 2005 2004
Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $141,128  $128,633 $ 13,484 § 11,627
Acquisitions 37 726 — —
Service cost 9,854 8,264 1,267 1,138
Interest cost 8,331 7,160 791 692
Plan amendments — — — 333
Actuarial (gains)/losses 17,895 (9,056) 2,514 292
Benefit payments (3,410) (3,745) (395) (598)
Changes in foreign exchange rates (4,684) 9,146 — —
Benefit obligation end of year $169,151  $141,128 $17,661 § 13,484
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $103,595 § 87,750 $ — 3 —
Acquisitions — 436 — —
Actual return on plan assets 13,717 5,049 — —
Employer contribution 11,359 8,176 395 598
Benefit payments (3,410) (3,745) (395) (598)
Changes in foreign exchange rates (3,413) 5,929 — —
Fair value of plan assets, end of year $121,848  $103,595 $ — 3 —
Reconciliation of Accrued Obligation and Total Amount Recognized
Unfunded status $(47,303) $(37,533) $(17,661) §(13,484)
Unrecognized net loss 23,058 14,708 6,275 3,875
Unrecognized prior service cost — — 2,753 2,953
Unrecognized transition obligation — — 426 459
Net amount recognized, end of year $(24,245) $(22,825) % (8,207) § (6,197)
Amounts recognized in Balance Sheet are as follows:
Accrued benefit cost $(26,642) $(22,825) § (8,207) $ (6,197)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,397 — — —
Net amount recognized $(24,245) $(22,825) % (8,207) § (6,197)
Accumulated Benefit Obligation $148,144  $118,358

The assumptions used in the measurement of our benefit obligations and net benefit costs as of and for the years ended June 30, 2005,

2004 and 2003 are as follows:

Pension Benefits Health Benefits
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Weighted-average assumptions:
Discount rate 4.39% 5.23% 4.85% 5.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Expected return on plan assets 5.26% 5.99% 5.51% N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 3.54% 3.73% 3.40% N/A N/A N/A

The health plan provides flat dollar credits based on years of service
and age at retirement. Service for determining credits will be frozen
as of December 31, 2005. There is a small group of grandfathered
retirees who receive postretirement medical coverage at a percentage
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of cost. The liabilities for these retirees are valued assuming a 10.5%
health care cost trend rate for 2005. The rate was assumed to decrease
gradually to 6.0% in 2014 and remain at that level thereafter.



The effect of a one percentage point increase or decrease in the
assumed health care cost trend rates on total service and interest
costs and the postretirement benefit obligation are provided in the
following table.

20058 2004
Effect of 1% Change in the Assumed
Health Care Cost Trend Rates
Effect of 1% increase on:
Total of service and interest
cost components $ 3 3 4
Benefit obligations 56 50
Effect of 1% decrease on:
Total of service and interest
COSt components $(3) $(4)
Benefit obligation (51) (46)

The Company's pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at
September 30, 2005, and 2004, by asset category are as follows:

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

The strategies balance the requirement to generate returns through
investments such as equity securities, with the need to control risk
through less volatile assets such as fixed income securities, while
also meeting local regulations. Approximately 89% of the Com-
pany's plan assets relate to the Company's pension plans in the
United Kingdom and Switzerland. In the United Kingdom, the plan
assets are managed in two separate portfolios, an equity portfolio
and a bond portfolio. The strategy is to invest 56% and 44% of the
plan assets in equity securities and debt securities, respectively. The
total return is tracked to the relevant market index, within specified
tolerances and after allowance for withholding tax where applicable,
for each of the funds in which the assets are invested. The plan assets
for the Switzerland plan are managed in accordance with the laws in
Switzerland. Within the scope of the Swiss laws, the strategy targets
equity securities of 35%—45%, debt securities of 35%—65%, real
estate investments of 5%—15% and other investments of 0%—5%.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future
service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

‘ Pension Health
Asset Category 2005 2004 Benefits Benefits
Equity securities 43.29% 40.47% 2006 § 2,786 $ 366
Debt securities 43.81% 46.99% 2007 2,770 405
Real estate 4.11% 4.70% 2008 3,157 474
Other 8.79% 7.84% 2009 3,206 575
Total 100.00%  100.00% 2010 3,248 653
Years 2011 through 2015 34,928 5,050
The investment objectives for the pension plan assets are to generate
returns that will enable the plans to meet their future obligations.
The components of net periodic benefit costs for the three years ended September 30, 2005 include:
Pension Benefits Health Benefits
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Service cost $ 9,854 ¢ 8,264 % 5,784 $1,267 $1,138 $ 803
Interest cost 8,331 7,160 4,107 791 692 597
Expected return on plan assets (6,738) (5,613) (3,411) — — —
{Gain) loss recognized in the year 4 10 — — — —
Amortjzation of:
Unrecognized prior service cost — — — 199 179 160
Unrecognized loss 155 360 — 115 115 66
Transition obligation - — — 33 33 33
Net periodic benefit cost $11,606 §10,181 $ 6,480 $2,405 $2,157 $1,659

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improve-
ment and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) became effective.
The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare
(Medicare Part D) as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree
health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least the
actuarial equivalent of Medicare Part D.

In accordance with the FASB Staff Position 106-2 (“FSP106-2"),
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
and revised guidance released in January 2005, the Company evalu-
ated its plan and determined that the plan is the actuarial equivalent
of a benefit under Medicare Part D. The adoption of FSP 106-2 has
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not had, and is not expected to have, a material effect on the finan-
cial condition or results of operations of the Company. The financial
statements and the notes to the financial statements do not include
the effect of the Act on the accumulated postretirement benefit obli-
gation or the net periodic postretirement benefit cost.

The Company presently anticipates contributing approximately
$12,500 to fund its pension plans and $370 to fund its health bene-
fit plans in fiscal 2006.

16. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

In 2002, the Company adopted the Hewitt Associates, Inc. Global
Stock and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) for employees
and directors. The Plan is administered by the Compensation and
Leadership Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company
(the “Committee”). Under the Plan, employees and directors may
receive awards of nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares,
performance units, and cash-based awards, and employees can also
receive incentive stock options. As of September 30, 2005, only
restricted stock, restricted stock units and nonqualified stock
options have been granted. A total of 25,000,000 shares of Class A
common stock have been reserved for issuance under the Plan. As of
September 30, 2005, there were 8,040,047 shares available for
grant under the Plan.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

In connection with the initial public offering, the Company granted
5,789,908 shares of Class A restricted stock and restricted stock
units to employees. The restricted stock and restricted stock units
have substantially the same terms, except the holders of restricted
stock units do not have voting rights. The one-time initial public
offering-related awards were valued at $110,141 on the June 27, 2002
grant date (a weighted price of $19.02 per share) and recognized as
unearned compensation within stockholders’ equity. Over the six-
month and four-year vesting periods, the unearned compensation is
being recognized as compensation expense. For the years ended
September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, compensation expense for
the initial public offering restricted stock awards was $17,355,
$16,733 and $39,010, respectively, including the award compensa-
tion expense and applicable payroll taxes for the respective periods.
In the year ended September 30, 2005, the Company granted
735,249 restricted stock and restricted stock units at a weighted-
average grant price of $26.92. On October 3, 2005, the Company
also granted 2,282,190 shares of restricted stock and restricted stock
units at a price of $27.59. The majority of these shares vest evenly
through July 1, 2009, and portions of the awards vest through July I,
2007 and July 1, 2008.
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Stock Options
The Committee may grant both incentive stock options and

nonqualified stock options to purchase shares of Class A common

stock. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, options may
be granted to participants in such number, and upon such terms, as
determined by the Committee, provided that incentive stock
options may not be granted to non-employee directors. The option
price is determined by the Committee, provided that for options
issued to participants in the United States, the option price may not
be less than 100% of the fair market value of the shares on the date
the option is granted and no option may be exercisable later than
the tenth anniversary of its grant. The nonqualified stock options
granted vest ratably over a period of four years. As of September 30,
2005, the Company has 10,364,866 options outstanding with a
weighted-average exercise price of $23.75.

On June 8, 20035, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the
acceleration on such date of the vesting of certain outstanding,
unvested out-of-the-money stock options awarded in the 2004
equity cycle under the Company'’s Global Stock and Incentive Com-
pensation Plan, except for options awarded to employees in certain
non-U.S. jurisdictions where the vesting would cause tax or regula-
tory issues. None of the stock options impacted by the acceleration
are stock options held by any of the Company’s independent direc-
tors. The 2004 stock options that were accelerated have exercise
prices that are above $25.50, the closing price of the Company’s
common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on June 8, 2005,
and range in exercise price from $27.47 to $29.32 per share.
Options to purchase approximately 3,487,318 shares became exer-
cisable immediately as a result of the acceleration of vesting, The pri-
mary purpose of the acceleration was to reduce the impact of future
compensation expense that the Company would otherwise recog-
nize in its consolidated statement of operations with respect to these
options upon the effective date of SFAS No. 123(R), which the
Company believes to be in the best interest of stockholders. The
Company also believes that because the stock options which were
accelerated have exercise prices in excess of the current market
price, the stock options are not fully achieving their original objec-
tive of incentive compensation and employee retention, and the
acceleration may have a positive impact on employee morale.



The following table summarizes stock option activity during 2065, 2004 and 2003:

2005

2004

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

2003

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average

Options  Exercise Price Options  Exercise Price Options  Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of fiscal year 11,212,831 $23.71 7,791,989 $21.70 4,089,003 $19.29
Granted — — 3,892,029 27.35 3,844,793 24.19
Exercised (445,528) 2214 (185,234) 19.57  (35,808) 19.00
Forfeited (364,274) 2463 (273,022) 2019 (105,999) 20.11
Expired (38,163) 23.27  (12,931) 20.42 — —
Ouistanding at end of fiscal year 10,364,866 $23.75 11,212,831 $23.71 7,791,989 $21.70
Exercisable options at end of fiscal year 7,874,066 $24.01 2,926,847 $20.95 1,106,256 $19.42

The Company did not grant options in the year ended September
30, 2005. The weighted-average estimated fair market value of lying stock. The following table summarizes information about
employee stock options granted during 2004 and 2003 was $10.10  stock options outstanding at September 30, 2005.

and $8.59 per share, respectively. These stock options were granted

at exercise prices equal to the current fair market value of the under-

Outstanding Options Exercisable Options

Number Weighted- Average Weighted-Average Number  Weighted-Average

Reasonable price range groupings: Outstanding Exercise Price Term (Years) Outstanding Exercise Price
$19.00 3,203,033 $19.00 6.7 2,454,066 $19.00
$23.50-$29.30 7,106,476 25.76 8.2 5,390,454 26.24
$32.45-334.60 55,357 32.72 8.6 29,546 32.70
10,364,866 $23.75 7.8 7,874,066 $24.01

17. Legal Proceedings
The Company is occasionally subject to lawsuits and claims arising ~ Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. Management considers such factors
in the normal conduct of business. Management does not expect the  as the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the abil-
outcome of any pending matter to have a material adverse affect ity to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss. As of Sep-
on the business, financial condition or results of operations of tember 30, 2005, the Company had no outstanding claims and was
the Company. not subject to any pending litigation alleging that the Company'’s
The Company provides indemnifications of varying scope and  products or services infringe the intellectual property rights of any
size to certain customers against claims of intellectual property  third parties.
infringement made by third parties arising from the use of our
products or receipt of our services. The Company evaluates estimated
losses for such indemnifications under SFAS 5, Accounting for Contin-
gencies, as interpreted by FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s

Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect

18. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists of the
following components:

Foreign Currency Accumulated Other

Translation Minimum  Unrealized Losses Comprehensive

Adjustment Pension Liability on Invesiments Income

As of September 30, 2002 $16,881 $ (690) - § — $16,191
Other comprehensive income (loss) 22,699 (333) — 22,366
As of September 30, 2003 39,580 (1,023) — 38,557
Other comprehensive income 29,470 1,023 — 30,493
As of September 30, 2004 69,050 — — 69,050
Other comprehensive income (loss) 3,270 (2,397) (135) 738
As of September 30, 2005 $72,320 $(2,397) $(135) $69,788
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The change in foreign currency translation during the years ended
September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were primarily related to changes
in the value of the British pound sterling relative to the US. dollar.

19. Income Taxes

For the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Com-
pany’s provision for income taxes aggregated $85,783, $85,015 and
$66,364, respectively, and consisted of the following:

2005 2004 2003
Current Deferred Total Current Deferred Total Current Deferred Total
U.S. Federal $(4,825) $79,236 $74,411 $41,177 $29,218 $70,395 $24,018 $31,931 $55,949
State and local 1,215 5,648 6,863 7,297 3,163 10,460 3,808 4,254 8,062
Foreign 7,675 (3,166) 4,509 4,160 — 4,160 2,353 — 2,353
$ 4,065 $81,718 $85,783 $52,634 $32,381 $85,015 $30,179 $36,185 $66,364

Tax benefits associated with the vesting of restricted stock and
restricted stock units and the exercise of nonqualified stock options
were credited directly to additional paid-in capital and amounted to
$3,204, $4,000 and $12,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant
portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
presented below:

Income tax expense for the period differed from the amounts == =
computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 35% to Deferred tax assets:

, ) Deferred contract revenues $ 51,370 $ 44,400

income before taxes as a result of the following:

Accrued expenses 22,490 22,157

Foreign tax loss carryforwards 48,604 38,097

2005 2004 2003 Foreign accrued expenses 12,326 —

Provision for taxes at Depreciation and amortization 3,284 —

US. federal statutory rate ~ $77,180  $72,751  $56,224  Domestic tax loss carryforwards 59,969 —

Increase (reduction) in Other 3,215 4,635

income taxes resulting from: 201,258 109,289

State and local income Valuation allowance (57,042) (38,097)
taxes, net of federal $144,216 $ 71,192
income tax benefits 3,733 7,799 5,040

Nondeductible expenses 2,018 909 839  Deferred tax liabilities:

International losses with Deferred contract costs $ 93,521 $ 53,863
no related tax benefits Compensation and benefits 31,616 22,804
and tax expense at Goodwill and intangible amortization 89,923 31,959
different rates 1,893 3,909 2,923 Depreciation and amortization — 10,799

Other 959 (353) 1,338 Other 22,677 21,977

$85,783 $85,015 $66,364 $237,737 $141,402
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The domestic net operating loss carryforward of $59,969 relates
to the Exult merger (see Note 5 for additional information) and
expires from 2017-2024. Approximately $55,000 of the net operat-
ing losses is expected to be utilized through 2008 with the remain-
der expected to be utilized by 2014.

At September 30, 2005, the Company has available foreign net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $158,860, of which
$101,034 has already provided a U.S. tax benefit. The remaining net
operating loss carryforward of $57,826 includes $11,926 which
expire at various dates between 2006 and 2015, and the remainder
have an indefinite carryforward period. The valuation allowance
primarily represents loss carryforwards and deductible temporary
differences for which utilization is uncertain given the lack of sus-
tained profitability of foreign entities and/or limited carryforward
periods. :

United States income taxes have not been provided on undistrib-
uted earnings of international subsidiaries. Those earnings are con-
sidered to be indefinitely reinvested. Upon distribution of those
earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company may
be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to adjustment for
foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to the various
foreign countries.

20. Segments and Geographic Data

Under SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information, the Company has determined that it has two reportable
segments based on similarities among the operating units including
homogeneity of services, service delivery methods, and use of tech-
nology. The two segments are Outsourcing and Consulting.

* Outsourcing— Hewitt applies its human resources expertise and
employs its integrated technology sclutions to administer its
clients’ human resources programs. Hewitt's Benefits Outsourcing
services include health and welfare (such as medical plans),
defined contribution (such as 401(k) plans) and defined benefit
(such as pension plans). In addition to Benefits Outsourcing serv-
ices, Hewitt's Human Resources Business Process Outsourcing
(“HR BPO”) services include workforce administration, rewards
management, recruiting and staffing, payroll processing, perform-
ance management, learning and development, talent management,
global mobility, time and attendance, accounts payable, procure-
ment expertise and vendor management.

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

* Consulting— Hewitt provides a wide array of consulting and actu-
arial services covering the design, implementation, communica-
tion and operation of health and welfare, compensation and
retirement plans, and broader human resources programs and
processes.

While the Company reports revenues and direct expenses based
on these two segments, it combines its expertise in human resources
outsourcing and consulting to create complete human resources
solutions and a full continuum of human resources services.

The Company operates many of the administrative and support
functions of its business through the use of centralized shared serv-
ice operations to provide an econormnical and effective means of sup-
porting the Outsourcing and Consulting segments. These shared
services include information systems, human resources, general
office support and space management, overall corporate manage-
ment, finance and legal services. Additionally, Hewitt's client devel-
opment group is included in shared services for all periods
presented. In May 2005, the Company announced plans to restruc-
ture and realign the client development group to report into indus-
try and client teams in the Outsourcing and Consulting segments in
the upcoming 2006 fiscal year. The realignment of this group is
expected to be completed by the end of calendar year 2005,

In all reported periods, the compensation and related expenses,
other operating expenses, and selling, general and administrative
expenses of the administrative and marketing functions are not allo-
cated to the business segments; rather, they are included in unallo-
cated shared service costs. The costs of information systems, human
resources and the direct client service activities by the client devel-
opment function have been, however, allocated to the Outsourcing
and Consulting segments on a specific identification basis or based
on usage or headcount.
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The table below presents information about the Company's reportable segments for the periods presented:

Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003®
Outsourcing
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,022,634 $1,432,091 §1,247,234
Segment income 253,474 297,911 245,905
Net client receivables and unbilled work in process 358,150 294,141
Long-term unbilled work in process 14,271 18,003
Goodwill and certain intangible assets 635,699 65,703
Deferred contract costs 252,466 162,121
Consulting
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $ 817,673 8§ 772,591 § 734,422
Segment income 169,806 126,064 136,380
Net client receivables and unbilled work in process 237,541 228,741
Long-term unbilled work in process 108 —
Goodwill and certain intangible assets 320,670 327,362
Deferred contract costs 1,039 481
Total Company
Revenues before reimbursements (net revenues) $2,840,307 $2,204,682 $1,981,656
Reimbursements 58,143 57,545 49,637
Total revenues $2,898,450 $2,262,227 $2,031,293
Segment income $ 423,280 § 423,975 $ 382,285
Charges not recorded at the Segment level—

Initial public offering restricted stock awards 17,355 16,733 39,010
Unallocated shared costs 171,650 184,409 165,294
Operating income $ 234,275 § 222,833 § 177,981
Net client receivables and unbilled work in process $ 595,691 § 522,882
Long-term unbilled work in process 14,379 18,003
Goodwill and certain intangible assets 956,369 393,065
Deferred contract costs 253,505 162,602
Assets not reported by segment 837,396 711,422
Total assets $2,657,340 $1,807,974

0On October 1, 2004, the Company merged with Exult, Inc. and its results are included in our results from that date.

®On June 5, 2003, the Company acquired Cyborg and on June 15, 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of NTRC. As such, their results are included in the
Company’s results from the respective acquisition dates.
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Revenues and long-lived assets by geographic area for the following
fiscal years are provided below. Revenues are attributed to geo-
graphic areas based on the country where the associates perform the
services. Long-lived assets include net property and equipment,
deferred contract costs, goodwill and intangible assets, such as capi-
talized software, but exclude investments in affiliated companies.

Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004 2003

Revenues
United States $2,280,439 $1,841,294 $1,687,861
United Kingdom 362,541 256,230 212,899
All Other Countries 255,470 164,703 130,533

Total $2,898,450 $2,262,227 $2,031,293
Long-Lived Assets
United States $1,055,952 § 514,085
United Kingdom 380,732 348,912
All Other Countries 210,453 41,920

Total $1,647,137 § 904,917

Hewitt Associates, Inc.

21. Regulated Subsidiary

Hewitt Financial Services LLC (“HFS"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, is a registered U.S. broker-dealer. HES is subject to
the Securities and Exchange Commission’s “Uniform Net Capital
Rule,” and has elected to compute its net capital in accordance with
the “Alternative Standard” of that rule. As of September 30, 2005
and 2004, HFS had regulatory net capital, as defined, of $5,163 and
$16,274, respectively, which exceeded the amounts required by
$5,093 and $16,269, respectively.
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Clockwise from top left
Students at Waukegan High School (1llinois) utilize the resources of the
Hewitt Career Center to help map out their future plans.

Hewitt volunteers staff one of the firm’s call centers used during a Red Cross-
sponsored telethon to aid victims of the Tsunami disaster.

Hewitt Diversity Chorus members share their musical talents during a Black
History Month performance.
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A Better Place to
Work...for Everyone

Connecting. Enabling. Respecting. These are powerful words
when you're a “people” company in a “people” industry. At
Hewitt, these words run through everything we do, and in
two significant areas—Community Relations and Diversity—
they lead us beyond our doors and into the world around us.

Community Relations

In the aftermath of the Indian Ocean Tsunami, the American
Red Cross of Greater Chicago was planning a telethon that
would be so widely broadcast that the Red Cross call center
would not be able to handle the expected volume.

It was a problem for which Hewitt had a ready solution—
exceptional people and technology. The telethon went
forward as planned, with Hewitt providing the call center
stations and the volunteers in the U.S. and Canada.

In addition to the in-kind contributions of people and
technology, our associates around the world contributed more
than $440,000, resulting in a matching gift from Hewitt of
almost $410,000 to the Red Cross Tsunami International
Response Fund.

Little did they all know that before the year was over, we
would again partner with the Red Cross for victims of
Hurricane Katrina, with Hewitt volunteers and technology
again playing an integral role. Including the more than
$1 million in cash and in-kind contributions from Hewitt
Associates, these efforts raised more than $13.5 million
in total contributions.

As the largest supplier of American Red Cross “Ready
When the Time Comes” volunteers in the state of Illinois,
Hewitt never knows when the next call for help is going
to come.

A different kind of call was answered during the
2004/2005 school year, when the Hewitt Career Center at
Waukegan High School in Illinois completed its initial year.
In this school, Hewitt created a 2,200-square-foot corporate
environment in which Hewitt and other corporate volunteers
advised students in how to explore different career options.




In its first full school year, the center contributed to
a higher graduation rate, lower truancy, and increased
attendance.

By the end of 2005, plans were under way to create
additional Hewitt Career Centers in other communities
in which we work.

However, Hewitt's connecting, enabling, and respecting
effect on the community is not the only kind that makes
headlines. There are ongoing community partnerships
involving donations, volunteers, and thought leadership.
There are monetary grants and sweat equity contribu-
tions. There are knowledge contributions in such areas as
workforce readiness, health management, financial security,.
and change management, as well as pro-bono services in
areas such as compensation studies, retention strategies, and
competency definitions. And there are matching gifts for
U.S. associate contributions up to $500 to secondary and
collegiate education institutions (established in memory of -
Hewitt's founder, Ted Hewitt).

We also attempt to improve the lives of people in our
communities through the Hewitt Associates Foundation,
which receives voluntary contributions from associates and
disburses them to charitable organizations that help needy
or financially disadvantaged people. |

So, in activities large and small, Hewitt is making the
world a better place to work...for everyone, in communities
near and far.

Diversity

Clearly, the idea of “community” is not confined to the world
beyond our walls. That’s why we have Associate Network
Groups that respectfully connect and enable associates with
similar interests and backgrounds to meet and discuss

their experiences, challenges, and opportunities as they relate
to working at Hewitt.

The formation of network groups is driven by associate -
interest. Currently there are six Associate Network Groups:
Black Associates at Hewitt Associates; PrideAlliance (for gay,
lesbian, bisexual, transgendered, and allied associates);
Generations (for associates over 40); Hewitt Asian Diversity
Network; Latino and Hispanic Associates; and Working
Parents. These networks reflect our belief that the more diverse
we are—in terms of race, ethnic origin, gender, sexual
orientation, age, abilities, perspective, and style of thinking—
the stronger, more valued, and profitable our firm will be.

Numerically, we're making progress in diverse represen-
ration. Key numbers are up in every business segment and
at every contributor level since the current diversity strategy
was adopted in 2003. And in the U.S. portion of our

leadership ranks, the percentage of minority representation
has more than doubled since 2003.

The encouragement of Associate Network Groups and a
concerted effort to increase representation are examples
of the first prong of our diversity strategy—to increase our own
workforce’s diverse representation.

The second prong is a position that sets Hewitt apart from
most other companies that have strong diversity awareness.
This second prong is te embed diversity in our human resources
consulting and outsourcing offers to clients.

An example of this was evident in 2005 when a Hewitt
team was making its pitch for an expanded client relationship
with a large financial services company. Tucked among the
team’s ideas for technology, systems, and cost models was a
presentation on the different ways a diverse workforce
perceives and uses its health and 401 (k) plans.

As the workforce becomes more diverse, there are new
implications for the design, development, and delivery of
human resources consulting and outsourcing. It affects
recruiting, on-boarding, participant call centers, communi-
cations, and operations.

Hewitt has learned that race/ethnicity can be one of the
top predictors of 401 (k) participation, and that different
minority groups can tend to be under-enrolled. This proved
to be the case with one client at which 23% of the employees
were African American. Hewitt partnered with the client to
conduct financial seminars that would be attractive to African
American employees during Black History Month. Of the
nonenrolled employees who attended the seminars, 42%
decided to enroll.

The third prong of our diversity strategy is to reach out to the
community to help build tomorrow’s diverse workforce. In 2005,
Hewitt launched a multi-cultural, multi-ethnic advertising
campaign for attracting African American, Latino, and
gay and lesbian talent. Ad placements have been made in
mainstream and niche publications.

For everyone at Hewitt, the diversity paradigm has moved
beyond tolerance and sensitivity to cross-cultural competence.
In 2005, some 2,000 U.S. leaders and managers completed
training in the new paradigm. In addition, pilot training
programs were conducted in Canada, the UK., and India,
where the course was tailored to the local culture. The goal is
to develop cross-cultural competency to manage diversity not
only within each location, but also within the normal flow of
work from one location to another.

It's all part of a way of life at Hewitt, where connecting,
enabling, and respecting are part of the culture that helps to
make the world a better place to work. ..for everyone.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

As of December 1, 2005

Board of Directors

Dale L. Gifford

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Steven A. Denning’
Chairman

General Atlantic, LLC,

a global private equity firm

Bryan J. Doyle
President—HR Outsourcing
Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Cheryl A. Francis”

Former Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

R.R. Donnelley & Sons Company,

a print media company

Julie S. Gordon
Chief Business Excellence Ofhcer
Hewitt Associates, Inc.

Michael E. Greenlees®?

Chief Executive Officer
FastChannel Network,

an advertising services company

Michele M. Hunt*

Founder and President

Vision & Values,

a leadership and organizational
development firm

James P. Kelly'*

Former Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

United Parcel Service,

a package distribution company

Cary D. McMillan®

Former Chief Executive Officer
Sara Lee Branded Apparel
Former Executive Vice President
Sara Lee Corporation,

a leading branded consumer packaged

goods company

Thomas J. Neff**

Chairman

Spencer Stuart, U.S.,

an executive search consulting firm

Steven P. Stanbrook'

President, Asia and Americas

S.C. Johnson & Son,

a manufacturer of consumer products

Board Committees:

Senior Management
Dale L. Giffordt
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Sanjiv K. Anand
HR Outsourcing—Solutions, Strategy and
Development Co-Leader

John L. Anderson
HR Consulting—Global Talent and
Organization Practice Leader

Bettye B. Baldwin
HR Consulting and Integration—
Latin America Leader

Perry O. Brandorff?
President—HR Consulting

Jack E. Bruner
HR Consulting—Solurtions and
Strategies Leader

Monica M. Burmeister
HR Consulting—Global Benefits
Practice Leader

Perry H. Cliburnt
Chief Information Officer

C. Lawrence Connolly, III
General Counsel

Sumner Datta
HR Outsourcing-—Asia-Pacific Leader

Bryan J. Doylef
President—HR Outsourcing
Eric C. Fiedler

HR Consulting and Integration—
Asia-Pacific Leader

Julie S. Gordon
Chief Business Excellence Officer

Richard H. Jones
HR Outsourcing—Europe Leader

Suzanne M. Kenney
HR Consulting—Global Communication
Practice Leader

Stephen D. King®
Senior Vice President—Human Rescurces

James R. Konieczny
HR Outsourcing—Operations Leader

Esther K. Laspisa
Chief of Staff and Corporate Relations Leader

Michael R. Lee
HR Consulting—Sales and Client
Management Leader

Charles N. Mercado
HR Qutsourcing—Latin America Leader

Christopher S. Palmer
HR Qutsourcing—Sales and Accounts
Co-Leader

John J. Park?
Chief Financial Officer

Roger S. Parkin
HR Consulting and Integration—
Europe Leader

Jocelyn P. Purtell
HR Outsourcing—Ncrth America
Operations Leader

John M. Ryan'
Senior Vice President—Strategy and Counsel

Michael J. Salvino
HR Outsourcing—Sales and Accounts
Co-Leader

Kristi A. Savacoolt
Senior Vice President—Business Services

Stephen M. Unterberger
HR Qutsourcing—Solutions, Strategy and
Development Co-Leader

*Executive Officer as defined by Securities and Exchange
Commission regulations

! Audit

! Compensation and Leadership

? Nominating and Corporate Governance
“Denotes Committee Chairman
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“Hewitt Associates’ Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Fmanaal Officer, respectively, have

E=sene Tc00e0 _'I d with the ‘»US Securities and Exchange

ommission i ?hose certifications required to
pany’s prmc1pal executive
and financial officers reparding the quality

disclosures-in Hewitts report
on Form 10 <] for Lhe fiscal-year ende

cer also made an unquahﬁed

certification to the Néw York Stock Exchange
(NYSE 1th respecl to-the Company's
i h the NYSE corporate




www. hewitt.com

—



